

Title	Scattering and blow-up for threshold even solutions to the nonlinear Schrödinger equation with repulsive delta potential at low frequencies
Author(s)	Gustafson, Stephen; Inui, Takahisa
Citation	Journal of Differential Equations. 2024, 412, p. 758–796
Version Type	VoR
URL	https://hdl.handle.net/11094/98335
rights	This article is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial 4.0 International License.
Note	

Osaka University Knowledge Archive : OUKA

https://ir.library.osaka-u.ac.jp/

Osaka University





Available online at www.sciencedirect.com



Journal of Differential Equations

Journal of Differential Equations 412 (2024) 758-796

www.elsevier.com/locate/jde

Scattering and blow-up for threshold even solutions to the nonlinear Schrödinger equation with repulsive delta potential at low frequencies

Stephen Gustafson^a, Takahisa Inui^{b,*}

^a University of British Columbia, 1984 Mathematics Rd., Vancouver, V6T1Z2, Canada ^b Department of Mathematics, Graduate School of Science, Osaka University, Toyonaka, Osaka, 560-0043, Japan

Received 26 October 2023; accepted 26 August 2024

Abstract

We consider the L^2 -supercritical nonlinear Schrödinger equation with a repulsive Dirac delta potential in one dimensional space. In a previous work, we clarified the global dynamics of even solutions with the same action as the high-frequency ground state standing wave solutions. In that case, there are obvious non-scattering global solutions, i.e., the standing waves. In this paper, we show a scattering and blow-up dichotomy for threshold even solutions in the low-frequency case. We emphasize that this dichotomy still holds at the critical frequency between high and low.

© 2024 The Authors. Published by Elsevier Inc. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc/4.0/).

MSC: 35Q55; 35B40; 35P25; 35B44

Keywords: Nonlinear Schrödinger equation; Repulsive Dirac delta potential; Even solutions; Scattering; Blow-up

Contents

1.	Introduction				
	1.1.	Motivation	759		
	1.2.	Main result	764		

^{*} Corresponding author.

E-mail addresses: gustaf@math.ubc.ca (S. Gustafson), inui@math.sci.osaka-u.ac.jp (T. Inui).

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jde.2024.08.072

0022-0396/© 2024 The Authors. Published by Elsevier Inc. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc/4.0/).

	1.3.	Idea of proof	765
	1.4.	Notation	766
2.	Prelin	inaries	767
	2.1.	Variational structure	767
	2.2.	The Gagliardo–Nirenberg inequality	768
	2.3.	Reduction by scaling	769
	2.4.	Relation between virial functional and μ_{ν}	769
	2.5.	Virial identity	770
	2.6.	Coercivity	772
	2.7.	Strichartz estimates and linear profile decomposition	773
3.	Modu	lation argument	774
4. Modulation parameters		lation parameters	776
	4.1.	Properties of the ground state	776
	4.2.	Estimates of the modulation parameters	778
	4.3.	Estimates for time derivatives of modulation parameters	786
5.	Proof	of scattering	787
	5.1.	Elimination of the critical element	789
6.	Proof	of blow-up	790
Data a	availabi	ility	791
Ackn	owledg	ment	791
Apper	ndix A.	Sign condition	791
Appe	ndix B.	Concluding remark	793
Refer	ences .	~	794

1. Introduction

1.1. Motivation

We consider the Schrödinger equation with a repulsive Dirac delta potential and a focusing power type nonlinearity in one dimension:

$$\begin{cases} i\partial_t u + \partial_x^2 u + \gamma \delta u + |u|^{p-1} u = 0, & (t, x) \in I \times \mathbb{R}, \\ u(0, x) = u_0(x) & x \in \mathbb{R}, \end{cases}$$
(δ NLS)

where $\gamma < 0$, δ is the Dirac delta with the mass at the origin, and p > 5. Though the equation is not scaling invariant, the condition p > 5 means that the nonlinearity is L^2 -supercritical. The Schrödinger operator $-\Delta_{\gamma} := -\partial_x^2 - \gamma \delta_0$ is defined by

$$-\Delta_{\gamma} f := -f'' \text{ for } f \in \mathcal{D}(-\Delta_{\gamma}),$$
$$\mathcal{D}(-\Delta_{\gamma}) := \{ f \in H^1(\mathbb{R}) \cap H^2(\mathbb{R} \setminus \{0\}) : f'(0+) - f'(0-) = -\gamma f(0) \}$$

where f' denotes the spatial derivative of f. The condition $\gamma < 0$ means that the potential is repulsive. In the repulsive case, it is known that the operator $-\Delta_{\gamma}$ is non-negative and self-adjoint on $L^2(\mathbb{R})$ (see [2, Chapter I.3]) and thus the linear Schrödinger propagator $e^{it\Delta_{\gamma}}$ is unitary on $L^2(\mathbb{R})$ by the Stone theorem. We may also define the operator $-\Delta_{\gamma}$ through the quadratic form

$$q(f,g) := \int_{\mathbb{R}} f'(x)\overline{g'(x)}dx - \gamma f(0)\overline{g(0)}$$

for $f, g \in H^1(\mathbb{R})$ (see [32] and [44, Example 10.7]). It is well-known that the equation (δ NLS) is locally well-posed in $H^1(\mathbb{R})$, and the mass and the energy, defined respectively by

$$\begin{split} M(f) &:= \|f\|_{L^2}^2, \\ E_{\gamma}(f) &:= \frac{1}{2} \|f'\|_{L^2}^2 - \frac{\gamma}{2} |f(0)|^2 - \frac{1}{p+1} \|f\|_{L^{p+1}}^{p+1}, \end{split}$$

are conserved. See [15, Section 3], [6, Theorem 3.7.1], and [14, Proposition 1] for the local well-posedness.

Global dynamics of nonlinear Schrödinger equations has attracted a lot of interest after the pioneering work by Kenig and Merle [33]. Global dynamics below the ground state for the Schrödinger equation with mass supercritical and energy subcritical nonlinearity, but without potential, are well-studied (see [25,8,26,11,1,16,17]), as are the global dynamics at the ground state level (see [10,5]). See also [40] for the global dynamics above the ground state. More recently, dynamics of nonlinear Schrödinger equations with potential have been considered: see [23,7,27] for general potentials and [45,34,36] for the inverse square potential. The authors have considered the global dynamics of the equation (δ NLS). To explain the known results, we first give some notations and definitions. For a frequency $\omega > 0$, we define the action $S_{\omega,\gamma}$ by

$$S_{\omega,\gamma}(f) := E_{\gamma}(f) + \frac{\omega}{2}M(f)$$

and the virial functional K_{γ} by

$$K_{\gamma}(f) := \|f'\|_{L^2}^2 - \frac{\gamma}{2} |f(0)|^2 - \frac{p-1}{2(p+1)} \|f\|_{L^{p+1}}^{p+1}.$$

The scaling critical regularity index is

$$s_c := \frac{1}{2} - \frac{2}{p-1}.$$

Definition 1.1 (*scattering*). We say that a solution u scatters in the positive (resp. negative) time direction if the solution exists at least on $[0, \infty)$ (resp. $(-\infty, 0]$) and there exists $u_+ \in H^1(\mathbb{R})$ (resp. $u_- \in H^1(\mathbb{R})$) such that

$$\|u(t) - e^{it\Delta_{\gamma}}u_{+(-)}\|_{H^1} \to 0 \text{ as } t \to \infty \text{ (resp.} -\infty).$$

We only say that a solution *u* scatters if the solution scatters in both time directions.

Remark 1.1.

(1) Mizutani [39] shows that, if a solution scatters in the positive time direction, then there exists $\widetilde{u}_+ \in H^1(\mathbb{R})$ such that

 $||u(t) - e^{it\partial_x^2}\widetilde{u}_+||_{H^1} \to 0 \text{ as } t \to \infty.$

This means the solution of the nonlinear equation behaves freely at time infinity.

(2) For the defocusing nonlinear Schrödinger equation with repulsive Dirac equation, Banica and Visciglia [4] show that all solutions scatter.

Definition 1.2 (blow-up, grow-up).

- We say that a solution u blows up in positive time if the solution exists until finite T > 0 and does not extend beyond T. By the blow-up alternative, if u blows up in positive time, then ||u'(t)||_{L²} → ∞ as t goes to maximal positive existence time.
- (2) We say that a solution u grows up in positive time if it exists on $[0, \infty)$ and $\limsup_{t\to\infty} \|u'(t)\|_{L^2} = \infty$.

We define blow-up (resp. grow-up) in negative time in a similar way. We say that a solution u blows up if it blows up in both time directions. We say a solution blows up or grows up if the solution blows or grows up in positive time and blows or grows up in negative time.

To study the global dynamics, minimization problems related to the ground state play an important role. We consider the following two:

$$n_{\omega,\gamma} := \inf\{S_{\omega,\gamma}(f) : f \in H^1(\mathbb{R}) \setminus \{0\}, K_{\gamma}(f) = 0\},\$$

$$r_{\omega,\gamma} := \inf\{S_{\omega,\gamma}(f) : f \in H^1_{\text{even}}(\mathbb{R}) \setminus \{0\}, K_{\gamma}(f) = 0\},\$$

where $H^1_{even}(\mathbb{R})$ denotes the even functions in $H^1(\mathbb{R})$. We have:

Proposition 1.1 ([13,28]). *Let* $\gamma < 0$.

(1) For all $\omega > 0$, $n_{\omega,\gamma} = n_{\omega,0}$ and $n_{\omega,\gamma}$ is not attained.

(2) $n_{\omega,\gamma} < r_{\omega,\gamma}$ and

$$r_{\omega,\gamma} \begin{cases} = 2n_{\omega,0} & \text{if } 0 < \omega \le \frac{\gamma^2}{4}, \\ < 2n_{\omega,0} & \text{if } \omega > \frac{\gamma^2}{4}. \end{cases}$$

(3) If $0 < \omega \le \gamma^2/4$, then $r_{\omega,\gamma}$ is not attained. If $\omega > \gamma^2/4$, then $r_{\omega,\gamma}$ is attained by

$$Q_{\omega,\gamma}(x) := c_p \omega^{\frac{1}{p-1}} \left[2 \cosh\left\{ \frac{p-1}{2} \sqrt{\omega} |x| + \tanh^{-1}\left(\frac{\gamma}{2\sqrt{\omega}}\right) \right\} \right]^{-\frac{2}{p-1}},$$

~

where $c_p := \{2(p+1)\}^{\frac{1}{p-1}}$. The function $Q_{\omega,\gamma}$ is the unique (up to a complex phase) solution of

$$-Q_{\omega,\gamma}''-\gamma\delta Q_{\omega,\gamma}+\omega Q_{\omega,\gamma}=|Q_{\omega,\gamma}|^{p-1}Q_{\omega,\gamma}.$$

Remark 1.2. Let

$$Q(x) := c_p \left\{ 2 \cosh\left(\frac{p-1}{2}x\right) \right\}^{-\frac{2}{p-1}},$$

known as the ground state of the equation

$$-Q'' + Q = Q^p. (1.1)$$

Then $Q_{\omega,\gamma}$ is given by a translation, reflection, and scaling as follows:

$$Q_{\omega,\gamma}(x) := \omega^{\frac{1}{p-1}} Q\left(\sqrt{\omega}|x| + \frac{2}{p-1} \tanh^{-1}\left(\frac{\gamma}{2\sqrt{\omega}}\right)\right)$$

for $\omega > \gamma^2/4$.

Remark 1.3. Fukuizumi and Jeanjean [13] show the instability of the ground state standing waves if $p \ge 5$. Le Coz et al. [35] obtained the strong instability of the standing waves. In their papers [13] and [35], the stability of the ground states in the case $1 is also investigated (see also [41] for the degenerate case). For the attractive Dirac delta potential (<math>\gamma > 0$), the orbital stability of the standing waves is studied by Fukuizumi, Ohta, and Ozawa [14] (see also [15]) in the non-degenerate case and Ohta [41] in the degenerate case. See Ohta and Yamaguchi [43] and Fukaya and Ohta [12] for the strong instability (see also [42] for a review). Recently, Masaki, Murphy, and Segata [37] proved the asymptotic stability of small solitary waves for p > 5 under a suitable spectral condition. See also [31,43].

The function $e^{i\omega t}Q_{\omega,\gamma}$ is a non-scattering global solution to (δ NLS) if $\omega > \gamma^2/4$. In the non-even case, $n_{\omega,\gamma} = n_{\omega,0} = S_{\omega,0}(Q_{\omega,0})$ gives a threshold for a dichotomy result even though $e^{i\omega t}Q_{\omega,0}$ is not a solution to (δ NLS):

Theorem 1.2 (Global dynamics below $Q_{\omega,0}$ (Ikeda–Inui [28])). For $\omega > 0$, we define the potential well set $PW_{\omega,\gamma} := \{f \in H^1(\mathbb{R}) : S_{\omega,\gamma}(f) < n_{\omega,\gamma}\}$. Assume that $u_0 \in \bigcup_{\omega>0} PW_{\omega,\gamma}$. Then the following hold for (δ NLS):

(1) If K_γ(u₀) ≥ 0, the solution scatters.
 (2) If K_γ(u₀) < 0, the solution blows up or grows up.

Remark 1.4.

- (1) Here (and in Theorem 1.4 below) $K_{\gamma}(u_0) = 0$ implies $u_0 = 0$.
- (2) By scaling, we can re-express Theorem 1.2 by replacing the assumption $u_0 \in \bigcup_{\omega>0} PW_{\omega,\gamma}$ with the mass-energy condition $E_{\gamma}(u_0)M(u_0)^{\frac{1-s_c}{s_c}} < E(Q)M(Q)^{\frac{1-s_c}{s_c}}$.

We also have a dichotomy result at the threshold:

Theorem 1.3 (Global dynamics on the threshold (Ardila–Inui [3], Inui [29])). Assume that $u_0 \in H^1(\mathbb{R})$ satisfies $E_{\gamma}(u_0)M(u_0)^{\frac{1-s_c}{s_c}} = E(Q)M(Q)^{\frac{1-s_c}{s_c}}$. Then the following hold for (δ NLS).

- (1) If $K_{\gamma}(u_0) > 0$, the solution scatters.
- (2) If $K_{\gamma}(u_0) < 0$ and $xu_0(x) \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$, the solution blows up.

Remark 1.5.

- (1) $K_{\gamma}(u_0) = 0$ does not occur since there is no ground state on the threshold.
- (2) The dichotomy results Theorems 1.2 and 1.3 are optimal in this sense: for any $\epsilon > 0$, there exists a non-scattering, global moving one-soliton solution u with $E_{\gamma}(u)M(u)^{\frac{1-s_c}{s_c}} < E(Q)M(Q)^{\frac{1-s_c}{s_c}} + \epsilon$ (see [22]).
- (3) In Theorems 1.2 and 1.3, the condition on the sign of $K_{\gamma}(u_0)$ at the initial time can be replaced by the sign of $K_0(u_0)$, or $\|Q_{1,0}\|_{L^2}^{1-s_c}\|Q_{1,0}\|_{\dot{H}^1}^{s_c} \|u_0\|_{L^2}^{1-s_c}\|\sqrt{-\Delta_{\gamma}}u_0\|_{L^2}^{s_c}$, or $\|Q_{1,0}\|_{L^2}^{1-s_c}\|Q_{1,0}\|_{\dot{H}^1}^{s_c} \|u_0\|_{L^2}^{1-s_c}\|u_0\|_{L^2}^{s_c}$. That is the solution scatters (e.g.) if one of them (therefore all of them) is positive. See e.g. [24]. It is notable that functionals not involving the potential term also determine the global behavior.

For even solutions, we have the following global dynamics result below $r_{\omega,\gamma}$, which is strictly larger than $n_{\omega,\gamma}$ by Proposition 1.1:

Theorem 1.4 (Global dynamics of even solutions below $r_{\omega,\gamma}$ (Ikeda–Inui [28])). For $\omega > 0$, we define the potential well set $PW_{\omega,\gamma}^{\text{even}} := \{f \in H^1_{\text{even}}(\mathbb{R}) : S_{\omega,\gamma}(f) < r_{\omega,\gamma}\}$. Assume that $u_0 \in \bigcup_{\omega>0} PW_{\omega,\gamma}^{\text{even}}$.

(1) If K_γ(u₀) ≥ 0, the solution scatters.
 (2) If K_γ(u₀) < 0, the solution blows up or grows up.

If $\omega > \gamma^2/4$, the ground state $Q_{\omega,\gamma}$ is a non-scattering, global, even solution on the threshold. We also have solutions converging to the ground state as follows:

Theorem 1.5 (Existence of special solutions (Gustafson–Inui [18])). Let $\omega > \gamma^2/4$ be fixed. There exist two even solutions U^{\pm} to (δ NLS) such that

• $M(U^{\pm}) = M(Q_{\omega,\gamma}), E_{\gamma}(U^{\pm}) = E_{\gamma}(Q_{\omega,\gamma}), U^{\pm}$ exist at least on $[0,\infty)$ and there exists c > 0 such that

$$\|U^{\pm}(t) - e^{i\omega t} Q_{\omega,\gamma}\|_{H^1} \lesssim e^{-ct} \text{ for } t \ge 0.$$

- $K_{\gamma}(U^+(0)) < 0$ and U^+ blows up in finite negative time.
- $K_{\gamma}(U^{-}(0)) > 0$ and U^{-} scatters backward in time.

Moreover, we have a global dynamics result in the high frequency case:

Theorem 1.6 (Global dynamics on the threshold (Gustafson–Inui [18])). Let $\omega > \gamma^2/4$. Assume that $u_0 \in H^1(\mathbb{R})$ is even and satisfies the mass-energy condition

$$M(u_0) = M(Q_{\omega,\gamma})$$
 and $E_{\gamma}(u_0) = E_{\gamma}(Q_{\omega,\gamma})$.

Then the following are true for (δ NLS)*.*

- (1) If $K_{\nu}(u_0) > 0$, the solution u scatters, or else $u = U^-$ up to symmetry.
- (2) If $K_{\gamma}(u_0) = 0$, then $u = e^{i\omega t} Q_{\omega,\gamma}$ up to symmetry.
- (3) If $K_{\gamma}(u_0) < 0$ and $\int_{\mathbb{R}} |xu_0(x)|^2 dx < \infty$, the solution u blows up, or else $u = U^+$ up to symmetry.

Our aim in the present paper is to classify the threshold dynamics of even solutions in the low frequency case $0 < \omega \le \gamma^2/4$. Since there is no ground state, one can expect a scattering and blow-up dichotomy.

1.2. Main result

We show the following scattering and blow-up dichotomy result at the threshold in the low frequency case, for even solutions:

Theorem 1.7. Let $0 < \omega \le \gamma^2/4$. Assume that $u_0 \in H^1_{\text{even}}(\mathbb{R})$ satisfies $E_{\gamma}(u_0) = 2E(Q_{\omega,0})$ and $M(u_0) = 2M(Q_{\omega,0})$. Then we have the following:

- (1) If $K_{\gamma}(u_0) > 0$, the solution u scatters.
- (2) Assume in addition that $xu_0 \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$. If $K_{\gamma}(u_0) < 0$, the solution u blows up.

Remark 1.6.

- (1) The mass-energy conditions $E_{\gamma}(u_0) = 2E(Q_{\omega,0})$ and $M(u_0) = 2M(Q_{\omega,0})$ come from the fact that $r_{\omega,\gamma} = 2n_{\omega,0} = 2S_{\omega,0}(Q_{\omega,0})$ (see Proposition 1.1) if $0 < \omega \le \gamma^2/4$. By using the scaling property of $Q_{\omega,0}$, we can re-express Theorem 1.7 by replacing these mass-energy conditions with the ω -independent conditions $E_{\gamma}(u_0)M(u_0)^{\frac{1-s_c}{s_c}} = 2^{\frac{1}{s_c}}E(Q)M(Q)^{\frac{1-s_c}{s_c}}$ and $M(u_0) \ge 2M(Q_{\gamma^2/4,0})$, where the additional mass condition ensures the low frequency.
- (2) We note that $K_{\gamma}(u_0) = 0$ does not occur on the threshold in the low frequency case since there is no ground state.
- (3) The dichotomy results Theorems 1.4 and 1.7 are optimal in this sense: for any $\epsilon > 0$, there exists a non-scattering, global, even, moving two-soliton solution u with $E_{\gamma}(u_0)M(u_0)^{\frac{1-s_c}{s_c}} < 2^{\frac{1}{s_c}}E(Q)M(Q)^{\frac{1-s_c}{s_c}} + \epsilon$ (see [22]).
- (4) The condition on the sign of $K_{\gamma}(u_0)$ may be replaced by the sign of $\sqrt{2} \|Q_{1,0}\|_{L^2}^{1-s_c} \|Q_{1,0}\|_{\dot{H}^1}^{s_c} \|u_0\|_{L^2}^{1-s_c} \|u_0\|_{\dot{H}^{\gamma}}^{s_c}$ in Theorem 1.4 (in the low frequency case $\omega \le \gamma^2/4$) and Theorem 1.7. The latter condition is related to the Nehari functional as seen in Section 2.4. See Appendix A for the proof.
- (5) In [19], even, logarithmic two-solitons with action $2n_{\omega,0}$ are constructed for higher frequencies. Theorem 1.7 shows that no such solutions can exist at lower frequency.

We give a summary of global dynamics results for (δ NLS) in Appendix B.

1.3. Idea of proof

The basic idea to show the scattering result relies on the work by Duyckaerts, Landoulsi, and Roudenko [9] (see also [38,3,20]). Their argument is by contradiction, based on concentration compactness and modulation. First of all, it is enough to consider the case $\omega = 1$ by a scaling argument. We suppose there exists a threshold, even, non-scattering solution to (δ NLS) satisfying the mass and energy condition M(u) = 2M(Q) and $E_{\gamma}(u) = 2E(Q)$ and $K_{\gamma}(u) > 0$. This solution has a compactness property: there exists $x : [0, \infty) \rightarrow [0, \infty)$ such that for any $\varepsilon > 0$ there exists $R = R_{\varepsilon} > 0$ such that

$$\int_{\{|x-x(t)|>R\}\cap\{|x+x(t)|>R\}} |u'(t)|^2 + |u(t)|^2 dx < \varepsilon$$

for any t > 0. If $\mu_{\gamma}(u) := 2 \|Q'\|_{L^2}^2 - \|u\|_{\dot{H}_{\gamma}^1}^2 > c$ for some c > 0, then we get a contradiction in a similar way to the case below the ground state. Indeed, when we calculate the localized virial identity, the error term can be estimated using the compactness, and can be absorbed by the virial functional K_{γ} , which does not go to zero by $\mu_{\gamma}(u) > c$. On the other hand, if $\mu_{\gamma}(u) \to 0$, we need a more careful modulation argument. In particular, we need to exploit the effect of the repulsive potential. Indeed, if $\gamma = 0$, we have a non-scattering solution converging to the ground state (see [5]). The repulsive effect appears through an estimate like

$$0 \le \left(1 - \frac{2}{|\gamma|}\right) e^{-2y(t)} \lesssim |\mu_{\gamma}(u)|, \tag{1.2}$$

where y(t) is the translation parameter of the modulation (for $\gamma < -2$; see below for $\gamma = -2$). This shows that if $\mu_{\gamma}(u(t)) \rightarrow 0$, then $y(t) \rightarrow \infty$. On the other hand, we also have

$$|\dot{y}(t)| \lesssim |\mu_{\gamma}(u)|$$

by the modulation analysis (this estimate holds in general for NLS and is not influenced by the repulsive potential), implying that *y* is bounded, giving a contradiction.

One difficulty of our problem is that we cannot remove the translation parameter by even symmetry. In the higher dimensional case, radial symmetry removes the translation parameter since the radial Sobolev embedding $H^1_{rad}(\mathbb{R}^d) \subset L^q(\mathbb{R}^d)$, where 2 < q < 2d/(d-2) and $d \ge 3$, is compact. In one dimension, however, the embedding is not compact.

A second difficulty is that the scaling of \dot{H}^1 and of the delta interaction is different. Indeed, letting $f_{\lambda}(x) = \lambda^{\alpha} f(\lambda^{\beta} x)$, we have

$$\|f_{\lambda}'\|_{L^{2}}^{2} = \lambda^{2\alpha+\beta} \|f'\|_{L^{2}}^{2}, \ |f_{\lambda}(0)|^{2} = \lambda^{2\alpha} |f(0)|^{2}.$$

This means that the virial functional K_{γ} differs from the functional μ_{γ} , which corresponds to the Nehari functional under the mass-energy condition (while they are equivalent for NLS without potential). However, we can show that there exists c > 0 such that $|\mu_{\gamma}(u)| \le c |K_{\gamma}(u)|$ under the assumption, by using a variational argument based on more general functionals than the Nehari and virial ones.

A third difficulty is to obtain the repulsive effect from the delta interaction. In the odd case (see [20]), we use the odd function Q(x - y) - Q(-x - y) as the imaginary ground state and we could show an estimate like $e^{-2y} \leq |\mu(u)|$. In our problem, the key point to use Q(|x| - y). While it is not smooth, it is more natural than Q(x - y) + Q(-x - y), since the ground state of (δ NLS) is given by $Q(|x| - \xi)$ for some ξ when $\omega > \gamma^2/4$ (see Remark 1.2). In this way, we obtain an estimate like (1.2). The e^{-2y} here comes from the decay order e^{-x} of the ground state Q(x). When $\gamma = -2$, however, the coefficient of e^{-2y} vanishes. In this degenerate case, we need a more careful calculation, using the next order in the decay of Q, which is e^{-px} . In this way, we get

$$e^{-(p+1)y} \lesssim |\mu_{\gamma}(u)|,$$

which allows for a contradiction in the same way as for $\gamma < -2$.

The proof of the blow-up result is based on the contradiction argument of Duyckaerts and Roudenko [10]. Suppose that *u* is global in the positive time direction. Then, by the virial identity and a Cauchy–Schwarz type inequality, which can be shown by using a Gagliardo–Nirenberg type inequality related to the delta potential, we know that *u* blows up in finite negative time and satisfies $\int_t^{\infty} |\mu_{\gamma}(u(s))| ds \leq Ce^{-ct}$. The estimate implies that y(t) converges to a positive constant as $t \to \infty$. This contradicts the divergence of *y*, which follows from $e^{-2y} \leq |\mu_{\gamma}(u)|$ (or $e^{-(p+1)y} \leq |\mu_{\gamma}(u)|$).

1.4. Notation

For a function f, we denote the spatial derivative by f' and the time derivative by \dot{f} . We set norms

$$\|f\|_{H^1_{\omega,\gamma}}^2 := \|f'\|_{L^2}^2 + |\gamma| |f(0)|^2 + \omega \|f\|_{L^2}^2$$

and

$$\|f\|_{\dot{H}_{\gamma}^{1}}^{2} := \|\sqrt{-\Delta_{\gamma}}f\|_{L^{2}}^{2} = \|f'\|_{L^{2}}^{2} + |\gamma||f(0)|^{2}.$$

In what follows, we denote $Q_{\omega,0}$ by Q_{ω} and $Q_{1,0}$ by Q for simplicity. Let $\chi \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R})$ be a cut-off function satisfying

$$\chi(x) := \begin{cases} 1 & (|x| > 1), \\ 0 & (|x| < 1/2). \end{cases}$$

For R > 0, we set

$$\chi_R(x) := \chi\left(\frac{x}{R}\right).$$

We also use the following notations:

$$\chi_R^c(x) := 1 - \chi_R(x), \ \chi_R^+(x) := \mathbb{1}_{(0,\infty)}\chi_R, \ \text{and} \ \chi_R^-(x) := \mathbb{1}_{(-\infty,0)}\chi_R$$

We define

$$\mu_{\gamma}(f) = 2 \|Q'\|_{L^2}^2 - \|f\|_{\dot{H}^1_{\nu}}^2.$$

For a function f and y > 0, we set $\mathcal{T}_{y} f(x) := f(x - y)$ and

$$\mathcal{G}_{R,y}f(x) := \chi_R^+(x)\mathcal{T}_yf(x) + \chi_R^-(x)\mathcal{T}_{-y}f(x).$$

2. Preliminaries

2.1. Variational structure

We revisit the variational argument not only for the virial and Nehari functionals but also for more general functionals $K_{\omega,\gamma}^{\alpha,\beta}$, defined by

$$K_{\omega,\gamma}^{\alpha,\beta}(f) := \partial_{\lambda} S_{\omega,\gamma}(e^{\alpha\lambda} f(e^{\beta\lambda} \cdot))|_{\lambda=0}$$

= $\frac{2\alpha + \beta}{2} \|\partial_{x} f\|_{L^{2}}^{2} - \alpha\gamma |f(0)|^{2} + \omega \frac{2\alpha - \beta}{2} \|f\|_{L^{2}}^{2} - \frac{(p+1)\alpha - \beta}{p+1} \|f\|_{L^{p+1}}^{p+1}$

for $\alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{R}$. By definition, $(\alpha, \beta) = (1/2, 1)$ gives the virial functional, i.e., $K_{\gamma}(f) = K_{\alpha,\gamma}^{1/2,1}(f)$, and $(\alpha, \beta) = (1, 0)$ gives the Nehari functional

$$I_{\omega,\gamma}(f) := K_{\omega,\gamma}^{1,0}(f) = \|\partial_x f\|_{L^2}^2 - \gamma |f(0)|^2 + \omega \|f\|_{L^2}^2 - \|f\|_{L^{p+1}}^{p+1}$$

If (α, β) satisfies

$$\alpha > 0, \ 2\alpha - \beta \ge 0, \ 2\alpha + \beta \ge 0, \tag{2.1}$$

we obtain the following lemma by [28, Lemmas 2.7-2.10].

Lemma 2.1. Let $0 < \omega \le \gamma^2/4$ and (α, β) satisfy (2.1). We have

$$2S_{\omega,0}(Q_{\omega,0}) = \inf\{S_{\omega,\gamma}(f) : f \in H^1_{\text{even}}(\mathbb{R}) \setminus \{0\}, K^{\alpha,\beta}_{\omega,\gamma}(f) = 0\}.$$

For $0 < \omega \le \gamma^2/4$ and (α, β) satisfying (2.1), we define

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{K}^{\alpha,\beta,+}_{\omega,\gamma} &:= \{ f \in H^1_{\text{even}}(\mathbb{R}) : M(f) = 2M(Q_{\omega,0}), E_{\gamma}(f) = 2E(Q_{\omega,0}), K^{\alpha,\beta}_{\omega,\gamma}(f) > 0 \}, \\ \mathcal{K}^{\alpha,\beta,-}_{\omega,\gamma} &:= \{ f \in H^1_{\text{even}}(\mathbb{R}) : M(f) = 2M(Q_{\omega,0}), E_{\gamma}(f) = 2E(Q_{\omega,0}), K^{\alpha,\beta}_{\omega,\gamma}(f) < 0 \}. \end{split}$$

We note that there is no function satisfying $M(f) = 2M(Q_{\omega,0}), E_{\gamma}(f) = 2E(Q_{\omega,0})$, and $K_{\omega,\gamma}^{\alpha,\beta}(f) = 0$.

Lemma 2.2. $\mathcal{K}_{\omega,\gamma}^{\alpha,\beta,+}$ is independent of (α,β) ; that is, $\mathcal{K}_{\omega,\gamma}^{\alpha,\beta,+} = \mathcal{K}_{\omega,\gamma}^{\alpha',\beta',+}$ for (α,β) and (α',β') satisfying (2.1). A similar statement holds for $\mathcal{K}_{\omega,\gamma}^{\alpha,\beta,-}$.

Proof. This can be proved in a similar way to [18, Lemma 2.2]. We omit the proof. \Box

This means that we may omit (α, β) from $\mathcal{K}^{\alpha,\beta,\pm}_{\omega,\gamma}$. This variational structure gives us the invariant sets under the flow.

Lemma 2.3. Let $0 < \omega \le \gamma^2/4$. Assume that $u_0 \in H^1_{\text{even}}(\mathbb{R})$ satisfies $E_{\gamma}(u_0) = 2E(Q_{\omega,0})$ and $M(u_0) = 2M(Q_{\omega,0})$. Let u denote the solution to (δNLS) with $u(0) = u_0$.

- (1) If $K_{\gamma}(u_0) > 0$, then $u(t) \in \mathcal{K}^+_{\omega,\gamma}$ as long as the solution exists. This gives a uniform H^1 bound of the solution and thus the solution is global.
- (2) If $K_{\gamma}(u_0) < 0$, then $u(t) \in \mathcal{K}^{-}_{\omega, \gamma}$ as long as the solution exists.

Proof. This follows from the standard argument. See e.g. [28, Lemma 2.17].

2.2. The Gagliardo-Nirenberg inequality

By the characterization of the ground state $Q_{\omega,0}$, we have the following Gagliardo–Nirenberg type inequality:

$$\|f\|_{L^{p+1}}^2 \le C_{\omega,0} \|f\|_{H^1_{\omega,0}}^2$$

for $H^1(\mathbb{R})$, where

$$C_{\omega,0}^{-1} = \frac{\|Q_{\omega,0}\|_{H_{\omega,0}^{1}}^{2}}{\|Q_{\omega,0}\|_{L^{p+1}}^{2}} = \left\{\frac{2(p+1)}{p-1}S_{\omega,0}(Q_{\omega,0})\right\}^{\frac{p-1}{p+1}} = \|Q_{\omega,0}\|_{L^{p+1}}^{p-1}$$

is the best constant and it is attained by $Q_{\omega,0}$. For the repulsive Dirac delta potential, we have the following inequality.

Lemma 2.4 (*The Gagliardo–Nirenberg type inequality w.r.t. delta potential*). Let $0 < \omega \le \gamma^2/4$. For any $f \in H^1_{\text{even}}(\mathbb{R})$, the following estimate holds:

$$\|f\|_{L^{p+1}}^2 \le 2^{-\frac{p-1}{p+1}} C_{\omega,0} \|f\|_{H^1_{\omega,\gamma}}^2.$$

The constant is optimal, but it is not attained.

Proof. This follows from the minimizing problem:

$$2S_{\omega,0}(Q_{\omega,0}) = \inf\{S_{\omega,\gamma}(f) : f \in H^1_{\text{even}}(\mathbb{R}) \setminus \{0\}, I_{\omega,\gamma}(f) = 0\}.$$

We omit the proof. \Box

Remark 2.1. When $\omega > \gamma^2/4$, we have a different best constant. See [21].

2.3. Reduction by scaling

By scaling, we can reduce our main theorem to the following for $\omega = 1$:

Theorem 2.5. Let $\gamma \leq -2$. Assume that $u_0 \in H^1_{even}(\mathbb{R})$ satisfies the mass-energy condition

$$M(u_0) = 2M(Q) \text{ and } E_{\nu}(u_0) = 2E(Q).$$
 (ME)

Then we have

- (1) If $K_{\nu}(u_0) > 0$, then the solution scatters in both time directions.
- (2) Assume in addition that $xu_0 \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$. If $K_{\gamma}(u_0) < 0$, then the solution blows up in finite time.

Indeed, Theorem 1.7 can be shown by assuming Theorem 2.5.

Proof of Theorem 1.7 from Theorem 2.5. Let $u_0 \in H^1_{even}(\mathbb{R})$ satisfy $E_{\gamma}(u_0) = 2E(Q_{\omega,0})$, $M(u_0) = 2M(Q_{\omega,0})$, and $K_{\gamma}(u_0) > 0$. By the scaling structure of $Q_{\omega,0}$, we obtain

$$\omega^{-\frac{p+3}{2(p-1)}}E_{\gamma}(u_0) = 2E(Q) \text{ and } \omega^{\frac{p-5}{2(p-1)}}M(u_0) = 2M(Q).$$

Let $u_{0,\omega^{-1}}(x) := \omega^{-1/(p-1)} u_0(\omega^{-1/2}x)$. Then we get

$$E_{\omega^{-\frac{1}{2}\gamma}}(u_{0,\omega^{-1}}) = 2E(Q) \text{ and } M(u_{0,\omega^{-1}}) = 2M(Q).$$

We also have

$$K_{\omega^{-\frac{1}{2}\gamma}}(u_{0,\omega^{-1}}) = \omega^{\frac{p+3}{2(p-1)}} K_{\gamma}(u_0) > 0$$

By Theorem 2.5, if $\omega^{-1/2}\gamma \leq -2$, which is equivalent to $0 < \omega \leq \gamma^2/4$, then we find that the solution $u_{\omega^{-1}}$ with the initial data $u_{0,\omega^{-1}}$ scatters. By rescaling, the behavior of the solution u with $u(0) = u_0$ is same as that of $u_{\omega^{-1}}$. Thus u scatters. This argument also works for the case that K_{γ} is negative. \Box

Thus, in what follows, it is enough to consider $\omega = 1$ under the assumption $\gamma \leq -2$.

2.4. Relation between virial functional and μ_{γ}

We define

$$\mu_{\gamma}(f) := 2 \|Q'\|_{L^2}^2 - \|f\|_{\dot{H}^1_{\gamma}}^2.$$

This is nothing but the Nehari functional under the mass-energy condition (ME), that is, $I_{1,\gamma}(u(t)) = \frac{p-1}{2}\mu_{\gamma}(u(t))$. Thus this sign is invariant under the flow by Lemma 2.3. Since the scaling ratio between \dot{H}^1 -norm and δ -interaction is different, there is a difference between the virial functional K_{γ} and μ_{γ} . However, we have Proposition 2.9 below. The proof is similar to that in [18]. We set $K_{\gamma}^{\alpha,\beta} := K_{1,\gamma}^{\alpha,\beta}$

Lemma 2.6. Let u be the solution to (δNLS) with $u(0) = u_0$ satisfying (ME). Then

$$\begin{split} K_{\gamma}^{\alpha,\beta}(u(t)) &= \frac{(p-1)\alpha - 2\beta}{2} 2 \|Q'\|_{L^{2}}^{2} \\ &- \left(\frac{(p-1)\alpha - 2\beta}{2} \|\partial_{x}u(t)\|_{L^{2}}^{2} + \frac{(p-1)\alpha - \beta}{2} |\gamma| |u(t,0)|^{2}\right) \end{split}$$

for any t.

Proof. This follows from a direct calculation using (ME) and $K_0^{\alpha,\beta}(Q) = 0$. \Box

Lemma 2.7. We have $K_{\gamma}(f) - c\mu_{\gamma}(f) = K_{\gamma}^{\frac{1}{2} - \frac{2c}{p-1}, 1}(f)$ for $c \in \mathbb{R}$ and $f \in H^1$ satisfying (ME).

Proof. This follows from direct calculation and Lemma 2.6. \Box

We note that $(\frac{1}{2} - \frac{2c}{p-1}, 1)$ does not satisfy (2.1). However, the functional $K_{\gamma}^{\frac{1}{2} - \frac{2c}{p-1}, 1}$ can be used as the functional of the minimizing problem by taking *c* small depending on *p*.

Lemma 2.8. Let 0 < c < (p-5)/4. There is no function $f \in H^1_{even}$ satisfying (ME) and $K_{\gamma}^{\frac{1}{2}-\frac{2c}{p-1},1}(f) = 0$.

Proof. The proof is same as in [18, Lemma 2.7]. We note that there is no ground state if $\gamma \leq -2$. \Box

Proposition 2.9. We have the following statements.

- (1) If $K_{\gamma}(u_0) > 0$, then there exists $c = c(p, u_0) > 0$ such that $K_{\gamma}(u(t)) \ge c\mu(u(t)) > 0$ for $t \in \mathbb{R}$.
- (2) If $K_{\gamma}(u_0) < 0$, then there exists $c = c(p, u_0) > 0$ such that $K_{\gamma}(u(t)) \le c\mu(u(t)) < 0$ as far as the solution exists.

Proof of Proposition 2.9. The proof is same as in [18, Proposition 2.5]. \Box

2.5. Virial identity

Let *u* be a solution to (δ NLS). We define

$$J(u(t)) = J_{\infty}(u(t)) := \int_{\mathbb{R}} |x|^2 |u(t,x)|^2 dx.$$

Direct calculations give the virial identity:

Journal of Differential Equations 412 (2024) 758-796

S. Gustafson and T. Inui

$$\frac{d}{dt}J(u(t)) = 4\operatorname{Im}_{\mathbb{R}}\int xu'(t,x)\overline{u(t,x)}dx,$$
$$\frac{d^2}{dt^2}J(u(t)) = 8K_{\gamma}(u(t)).$$

Let φ be an even function in $C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R})$ satisfying

$$\varphi(x) := \begin{cases} x^2 & (|x| < 1), \\ 0 & (|x| > 2). \end{cases}$$

For R > 0, we define

$$J_R(u(t)) := \int_{\mathbb{R}} R^2 \varphi\left(\frac{x}{R}\right) |u(t,x)|^2 dx.$$

Then we have the localized virial identity:

$$\frac{d}{dt}J_R(u(t)) = 2R \operatorname{Im} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \varphi'\left(\frac{x}{R}\right) u'(t,x)\overline{u(t,x)}dx$$

and

$$\frac{d^2}{dt^2}J_R(u(t)) := 8K_\gamma(u(t)) + A_R(u(t)),$$

where

$$\begin{aligned} A_R(u(t)) &:= -4 \int\limits_{|x|>R} \left\{ 2 - \varphi''\left(\frac{x}{R}\right) \right\} \left\{ |u'(t,x)|^2 - \frac{p-1}{2(p+1)} |u(t,x)|^{p+1} \right\} dx \\ &- \frac{1}{R^2} \int\limits_{R<|x|<2R} \varphi^{(4)}\left(\frac{x}{R}\right) |u(t,x)|^2 dx. \end{aligned}$$

We set

$$F_R(f) := 8K_{\gamma}(f) + A_R(f)$$

for $f \in H^1(\mathbb{R})$. We set $F_{\infty}(f) := 8K_{\gamma}(f)$.

Lemma 2.10. For any y > 0 and $\theta \in \mathbb{R}$, we have

$$A_R(e^{i\theta}Q(|\cdot|-y)) = 0$$

and so

$$F_R(e^{i\theta}Q(|\cdot|-y)) = 8K_{\gamma}(e^{i\theta}Q(|\cdot|-y)) = F_{\infty}(e^{i\theta}Q(|\cdot|-y)).$$

Proof. Let $v(t) := e^{it} e^{i\theta} Q(|\cdot| - y)$. Then the function v satisfies

$$i\partial_t v + \partial_x^2 v + \gamma_y \delta v + |v|^{p-1} v = 0,$$

where $\gamma_y := -2Q'(-y)/Q(-y)$ (in fact *v* is the ground state soliton of (δ NLS) with $\gamma = \gamma_y \in (-2, 0)$). Thus

$$\frac{d}{dt}J_R(v(t)) = 2R\operatorname{Im}_{\mathbb{R}} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \varphi'\left(\frac{x}{R}\right)Q'(|x|-y)Q(|x|-y)dx = 0.$$

This shows that

$$F_R^{y}(v) := A_R(v) + 8K_{\gamma_y}(v) = 0.$$

By the Pohozaev identity for $Q(|\cdot| - y)$, we see that $K_{\gamma_y}(v) = 0$, which implies that $A_R(v) = 0$ (noting that A_R is independent of the delta potential), and the lemma follows. \Box

2.6. Coercivity

We define

$$\Phi(f,g) := \operatorname{Re} \int_{\mathbb{R}} f'(x)\overline{g'(x)} + f(x)\overline{g(x)} - Q(x)^{p-1}(pf_1(x)g_1(x) + f_2(x)g_2(x))dx,$$

where $f, g \in H^1(\mathbb{R})$, f_1, g_1 denote the real parts of f, g, and f_2, g_2 denote the imaginary parts of f, g, respectively.

For y > 0, we also define

$$B_{y}(f,g) := \operatorname{Re} \int_{0}^{\infty} f'(x)\overline{g'(x)} + f(x)\overline{g(x)} - Q(x-y)^{p-1}(pf_{1}(x)g_{1}(x) + f_{2}(x)g_{2}(x))dx$$

and we denote B_y by B for short.

The following coercivity property for Φ is obtained by [5].

Lemma 2.11 (*Campos–Farah–Roudenko* [5, *Lemma 3.5*]). *There exists* c > 9 *such that if* $f \in H^1(\mathbb{R})$ *satisfies the following orthogonality:*

$$\operatorname{Im} \int_{\mathbb{R}} f(x)Q(x)dx = \operatorname{Re} \int_{\mathbb{R}} f(x)Q'(x)dx = \operatorname{Re} \int_{\mathbb{R}} f(x)Q(x)^{p}dx = 0,$$

then

$$\Phi(f, f) \ge c \|f\|_{H^1}^2.$$

By using this coercivity, we get the following.

Lemma 2.12 (*Coercivity*). Let y > 2R and R > 1. There exist c, C > 0 such that if $h \in H^1_{even}(\mathbb{R})$ satisfies the following orthogonality:

$$\operatorname{Im}_{\mathbb{R}} \int h(x)\chi_{R}^{+}(x)\mathcal{T}_{y}Q(x)dx = \operatorname{Re}_{\mathbb{R}} \int h(x)(\chi_{R}^{+}(x)\mathcal{T}_{y}Q(x))'dx$$
$$= \operatorname{Re}_{\mathbb{R}} \int h(x)\chi_{R}^{+}(x)\mathcal{T}_{y}Q(x)^{p}dx = 0,$$

then

$$\Phi(\mathcal{T}_{-y}(\chi_R h), \mathcal{T}_{-y}(\chi_R h)) \ge c \|\chi_R h\|_{H^1}^2 - \frac{C}{R} \|h\|_{H^1}^2.$$

Proof. We can show this in the same way as in [21, Lemma 24]. We omit the proof. \Box

2.7. Strichartz estimates and linear profile decomposition

We define some function spaces as follows.

Definition 2.1. Let I be a (possibly unbounded) time interval. We define function spaces by

$$S(I) := L_t^{\frac{2(p^2-1)}{p+3}} L_x^{p+1}(I), \quad W(I) := L_t^{\frac{2(p^2-1)}{p^2-3p-2}} L_x^{p+1}(I), \quad X(I) := L_t^{p-1} L_x^{\infty}(I).$$

Moreover, W' denotes the dual space of W, that is, $W'(I) = L_t^{\frac{2(p^2-1)}{p(p+3)}} L_x^{\frac{p+1}{p}}(I).$

Then we have the Strichartz estimates.

Lemma 2.13 (Strichartz estimates). The following estimates are valid:

$$\|e^{it\Delta_{\gamma}}f\|_{S(I)} + \|e^{it\Delta_{\gamma}}f\|_{X(I)} \lesssim \|f\|_{H^{1}}$$

$$\|\int_{t_{0}}^{t} e^{i(t-s)\Delta_{\gamma}}F(s)ds\|_{S(t_{0},t_{1})} + \|\int_{t_{0}}^{t} e^{i(t-s)\Delta_{\gamma}}F(s)ds\|_{X(t_{0},t_{1})} \lesssim \|F\|_{W'(t_{0},t_{1})},$$

where *I* is a (possibly unbounded) time interval and $t_1 > t_0$.

Proof. See [4, Section 3.1]. \Box

Lemma 2.14. Let $u_0 \in H^1(\mathbb{R})$ and u be the solution to (δNLS) with $u(0) = u_0$. The solution u scatters in the positive time direction iff $u \in S(0, \infty)$.

Proof. See [4, Proposition 3.2]. \Box

3. Modulation argument

Lemma 3.1. There exists $\mu_0 > 0$ and a function $\varepsilon : (0, \mu_0) \to (0, \infty)$ with $\varepsilon(\mu) \to 0$ as $\mu \to 0$ such that the following holds. For any $\mu < \mu_0$ and for all $f \in H^1_{even}(\mathbb{R})$ satisfying $E_{\gamma}(f) = 2E(Q)$, M(f) = 2M(Q) and $\mu_{\gamma}(f) < \mu$, there exist $(\theta, y) \in \mathbb{R} \times [0, \infty)$ such that

$$\|f - e^{i\theta}Q(|\cdot| - y)\|_{H^1} \le \varepsilon(\mu).$$

Proof. We use a contradiction argument. We suppose that the statement fails. Then there exists $\varepsilon_0 > 0$ such that for any $n \in \mathbb{N}$, there exist μ_n with $\mu_n \to 0$ and $f_n \in H^1_{\text{even}}(\mathbb{R})$ satisfying $E_{\gamma}(f_n) = 2E(Q), M(f_n) = 2M(Q)$ and $\mu(f_n) < \mu_n$ such that $\inf_{\theta \in \mathbb{R}} \inf_{y \ge 0} ||f_n - e^{i\theta}Q(| \cdot |-y)||_{H^1} > \varepsilon_0$. Since $\mu_{\gamma}(f_n) \to 0$ as $n \to \infty$ and $E_{\gamma}(f_n) = 2E(Q)$, we have $||f_n||_{L^{p+1}}^{p+1} \to 2||Q||_{L^{p+1}}^{p+1}$ and thus

$$S_{\gamma}(f_n) \to 2S(Q) \text{ and } I_{\gamma}(f_n) \to 2I(Q) = 0.$$

By Fukuizumi and Jeanjean [13, Lemma 20], we get

$$||f_n - e^{i\theta_n}(Q(\cdot - y_n) + Q(-\cdot - y_n))||_{H^1} \to 0,$$

where $y_n \to \infty$. Now

$$\begin{aligned} \|(Q(\cdot - y_n) + Q(- \cdot - y_n)) - Q(| \cdot | - y_n)\|_{H^1} \\ &= \|Q(- \cdot - y_n)\|_{H^1(0,\infty)} + \|Q(\cdot - y_n)\|_{H^1(-\infty,0)} \\ &\to 0. \end{aligned}$$

This is a contradiction. \Box

Lemma 3.2 (Modulation). Let R > 0 be sufficiently large. There exist $\mu_0 > 0$ and a function $\varepsilon : (0, \mu_0) \to (0, \infty)$ with $\varepsilon(\mu) \to 0$ as $\mu \to 0$ such that the following holds. For any $\mu < \mu_0$ and for all $f \in H^1_{even}(\mathbb{R})$ satisfying E(f) = 2E(Q), M(f) = 2M(Q) and $\mu(f) < \mu$, there exist $(\tilde{\theta}, y) \in \mathbb{R} \times (2R, \infty)$ such that

$$\|e^{-i\theta}f - Q(|\cdot| - y)\|_{H^1} < \varepsilon(\mu)$$

and

$$\operatorname{Im}_{\mathbb{R}} \int_{\mathbb{R}} g(x)\chi_{R}^{+}(x)Q(x-y)dx = 0, \quad \operatorname{Re}_{\mathbb{R}} \int_{\mathbb{R}} g(x)\partial_{x}(\chi_{R}^{+}(x)Q(x-y))dx = 0, \quad (3.1)$$

where $g = e^{-i\tilde{\theta}} f - Q(|\cdot| - y)$.

Proof. We define

$$J(\tilde{\theta}, y, v) = \begin{pmatrix} J_1(\tilde{\theta}, y, v) \\ J_2(\tilde{\theta}, y, v) \end{pmatrix}$$
$$:= \begin{pmatrix} \operatorname{Im} \int_{\mathbb{R}} (e^{-i\tilde{\theta}}v - Q(|\cdot| - y))\chi_R^+ \mathcal{T}_y Q dx \\ \operatorname{Re} \int_{\mathbb{R}} (e^{-i\tilde{\theta}}v - Q(|\cdot| - y))\partial_x (\chi_R^+ \mathcal{T}_y Q) dx \end{pmatrix}$$

for $\tilde{\theta} \in \mathbb{R}$, y > 2R, $v \in H^1_{\text{even}}$. Then $J(0, y, Q(|\cdot| - y)) = 0$. We have

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{\partial J_1}{\partial \tilde{\theta}}(0, y, Q(|\cdot|-y)) &= -\int_{\mathbb{R}} Q(|x|-y)\chi_R^+ \mathcal{T}_y Q dx \\ &= -\int_{\mathbb{R}} |\mathcal{T}_y Q|^2 dx + O(e^{-2y}) \\ &= -\|Q\|_{L^2}^2 + O(e^{-4R}) \end{aligned}$$

and

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{\partial J_2}{\partial y}(0, y, Q(|\cdot|-y)) &= \int_{\mathbb{R}} Q'(|x|-y)\partial_x(\chi_R^+ \mathcal{T}_y Q) dx \\ &= \|\partial_x Q\|_{L^2}^2 + O(R^{-1} + e^{-4R}). \end{aligned}$$

We also have $\frac{\partial J_1}{\partial y}(0, y, Q(|\cdot| - y)) = \frac{\partial J_2}{\partial \bar{\theta}}(0, y, Q(|\cdot| - y)) = 0$. These imply that the Jacobian of *J* near $(0, y, Q(|\cdot| - y))$ is invertible for large *R*. The statement follows from the implicit function theorem. \Box

Let *u* be an even solution satisfying (ME). We denote $\mu_{\gamma}(u(t))$ by $\mu_{\gamma}(t)$ for short. We set $I_{\mu_0} := \{t \in I_{\max} : |\mu_{\gamma}(t)| < \mu_0\}$, where I_{\max} denotes the maximal existence time interval of the solution. By Lemma 3.2, we have C^1 functions $\tilde{\theta} = \tilde{\theta}(t)$ and y = y(t) for $t \in I_{\mu_0}$. We set $\theta := \tilde{\theta} - t$. We also have orthogonality conditions (3.1). We set

$$u(t, x) = e^{i\theta(t) + it} (Q(|x| - y(t)) + g(t, x))$$

= $e^{i\theta(t) + it} (Q(|x| - y(t)) + \rho(t)\mathcal{G}_{R,y(t)}Q(x) + h(t, x)),$ (3.2)

where

$$\rho(t) := \frac{\operatorname{Re} \int g \chi_R^+ (\mathcal{T}_{y(t)} Q)^p dx}{\int (\chi_R^+)^2 (\mathcal{T}_{y(t)} Q)^{p+1} dx}.$$
(3.3)

Then it follows from (3.1), (3.2) and (3.3) that

$$\operatorname{Im}_{\mathbb{R}} \int h\chi_{R}^{+} \mathcal{T}_{y(t)} Q dx = \operatorname{Re}_{\mathbb{R}} \int h(\chi_{R}^{+} \mathcal{T}_{y(t)} Q)' dx = \operatorname{Re}_{\mathbb{R}} \int h\chi_{R}^{+} (\mathcal{T}_{y(t)} Q)^{p} dx = 0.$$
(3.4)

4. Modulation parameters

4.1. Properties of the ground state

To give estimates for the modulation parameters ρ , y and the remainder terms g, h, the function Q defined by

$$\mathcal{Q}(y) := -\int_{-\infty}^{0} |Q'(x-y)|^2 dx - \int_{-\infty}^{0} |Q(x-y)|^2 dx + \frac{|\gamma|}{2} Q(-y)^2 - \frac{1}{2|\gamma|} \{|\gamma|Q(-y) - 2Q'(-y)\}^2$$

plays an important role. In this subsection, we compute its function large-y asymptotics. The ground state Q is given by

$$Q(x) = c_p \left\{ 2 \cosh\left(\frac{p-1}{2}x\right) \right\}^{-\frac{2}{p-1}} = c_p \{e^{\alpha x} + e^{-\alpha x}\}^{-\frac{1}{\alpha}},$$

where $c_p := (2(p+1))^{\frac{1}{p-1}}$ and $\alpha = (p-1)/2$. By Taylor expansion, we have

$$Q(x) = c_p e^{-|x|} - \frac{c_p}{\alpha} e^{-p|x|} + o(e^{-p|x|}),$$
(4.1)

and

$$Q'(x) = -c_p \frac{x}{|x|} e^{-|x|} + \frac{pc_p}{\alpha} \frac{x}{|x|} e^{-p|x|} + o(e^{-p|x|}).$$
(4.2)

Lemma 4.1. We have

$$-\int_{-\infty}^{0} |Q'(x-y)|^2 dx = -\frac{c_p^2}{2}e^{-2y} + \frac{2pc_p^2}{\alpha(p+1)}e^{-(p+1)y} + o(e^{-(p+1)y}).$$

Proof. By the Taylor expansion (4.2) of Q', we get

$$-\int_{-\infty}^{0} |Q'(x-y)|^2 dx = -\int_{-\infty}^{0} |-c_p e^{x-y} + \frac{pc_p}{\alpha} e^{p(x-y)}|^2 dx + o(e^{-(p+1)y})$$
$$= -\int_{-\infty}^{0} (-c_p e^{x-y})^2 + 2(-c_p e^{x-y}) \frac{pc_p}{\alpha} e^{p(x-y)} dx + o(e^{-(p+1)y})$$
$$= -c_p^2 e^{-2y} \int_{-\infty}^{0} e^{2x} dx + 2 \frac{pc_p^2}{\alpha} e^{-(p+1)y} \int_{-\infty}^{0} e^{(p+1)x} dx + o(e^{-(p+1)y})$$

$$= -\frac{c_p^2}{2}e^{-2y} + \frac{2pc_p^2}{\alpha(p+1)}e^{-(p+1)y} + o(e^{-(p+1)y}). \quad \Box$$

Lemma 4.2. We have

$$-\int_{-\infty}^{0} |Q(x-y)|^2 dx = -\frac{c_p^2}{2}e^{-2y} + \frac{2c_p^2}{\alpha(p+1)}e^{-(p+1)y} + o(e^{-(p+1)y}).$$

Proof. Using the Taylor expansion (4.1) of Q, this is a similar calculation to Lemma 4.1. \Box

Lemma 4.3. We have

$$\frac{|\gamma|}{2}Q(-y)^2 = \frac{|\gamma|}{2}c_p^2 e^{-2y} - \frac{|\gamma|c_p^2}{\alpha}e^{-(p+1)y} + o(e^{-(p+1)y}).$$

Proof. This is an immediate consequence of (4.1). \Box

Lemma 4.4. We have

$$-\frac{1}{2|\gamma|} \{ |\gamma|Q(-y) - 2Q'(-y) \}^{2}$$

$$= -\frac{1}{2|\gamma|} (|\gamma| - 2)^{2} c_{p}^{2} e^{-2y} - \frac{|\gamma| - 2}{|\gamma|} \frac{2p - |\gamma|}{\alpha} c_{p}^{2} e^{-(p+1)y} + o(e^{-(p+1)y}).$$

Proof. By (4.1) and (4.2), we have

$$\begin{aligned} \{|\gamma|Q(-y) - 2Q'(-y)\}^2 \\ &= \left\{ |\gamma| \left(c_p e^{-y} - \frac{c_p}{\alpha} e^{-py} \right) - 2 \left(c_p e^{-y} - \frac{pc_p}{\alpha} e^{-py} \right) \right\}^2 + o(e^{-(p+1)y}) \\ &= \left\{ (|\gamma| - 2) c_p e^{-y} + \frac{2p - |\gamma|}{\alpha} c_p e^{-py} \right\}^2 + o(e^{-(p+1)y}) \\ &= (|\gamma| - 2)^2 c_p^2 e^{-2y} + 2(|\gamma| - 2) \frac{2p - |\gamma|}{\alpha} c_p^2 e^{-(p+1)y} + o(e^{-(p+1)y}) \end{aligned}$$

and their result follows. \Box

Combining all the above estimates, we obtain the following.

Corollary 4.5. We have

$$\mathcal{Q}(y) = \left(1 - \frac{2}{|\gamma|}\right) c_p^2 e^{-2y} - \frac{4p(|\gamma| - 2)}{|\gamma|(p-1)} c_p^2 e^{-(p+1)y} + o(e^{-(p+1)y}).$$

Remark 4.1. So when $\gamma < -2$, the leading term of Q is e^{-2y} with positive coefficient. When $\gamma = -2$, we will simply regard Q as an error term with $Q = o(e^{-(p+1)y})$.

For $\gamma = -2$, the following estimate provides our main term:

Lemma 4.6. It holds that

$$\frac{2}{p+1}\int_{-\infty}^{0}|Q(x-y)|^{p+1}dx = \frac{4c_p^2}{(p+1)}e^{-(p+1)y} + o(e^{-(p+1)y}).$$

Proof. We have

$$\frac{2}{p+1} \int_{-\infty}^{0} |Q(x-y)|^{p+1} dx = \frac{2}{p+1} \int_{-\infty}^{0} |c_p e^{x-y}|^{p+1} dx + o(e^{-(p+1)y})$$
$$= \frac{2c_p^{p+1}}{p+1} e^{-(p+1)y} \int_{-\infty}^{0} e^{(p+1)x} dx + o(e^{-(p+1)y})$$
$$= \frac{2c_p^{p+1}}{(p+1)^2} e^{-(p+1)y} + o(e^{-(p+1)y})$$

Since $c_p = \{2(p+1)\}^{\frac{1}{p-1}}$ we have

$$c_p^{p+1} = c_p^2 c_p^{p-1} = 2(p+1)c_p^2.$$

Thus, we get

$$\frac{2c_p^{p+1}}{(p+1)^2} = \frac{4(p+1)c_p^2}{(p+1)^2} = \frac{4c_p^2}{(p+1)}.$$

4.2. Estimates of the modulation parameters

We set

$$e_{\gamma}(y) := \begin{cases} e^{-2y} & (\gamma < -2), \\ e^{-(p+1)y} & (\gamma = -2). \end{cases}$$

Let u be an even solution satisfying (ME), and modulated as in (3.2).

Lemma 4.7. It holds that

$$\begin{split} |\rho| &\lesssim \|g\|_{L^2}, \\ \|g\|_{H^1} &\lesssim |\rho| + \|h\|_{H^1}, \\ \|h\|_{H^1} &\lesssim |\rho| + \|g\|_{H^1} &\lesssim \|g\|_{H^1}. \end{split}$$

Proof. These estimates follow from the definition of ρ and $g = \chi_R Q(|\cdot| - y) + h$. \Box

By using the mass condition, we have the following:

Lemma 4.8. We have

$$4\operatorname{Re}\int_{0}^{\infty}Q(x-y)h(x)dx = 2\int_{-\infty}^{0}|Q(x-y)|^{2}dx - 4\rho\operatorname{Re}\int_{0}^{\infty}\chi_{R}(x)Q(x-y)^{2} - \|g\|_{L^{2}}^{2}.$$

Proof. This follows from direct calculation using M(u) = 2M(Q) and (3.2). \Box

Using the functional μ_{γ} , we have the following:

Lemma 4.9. We have

$$|\rho| \lesssim |\mu_{\gamma}(u)| + \|g\|_{H^{1}}^{2} + e_{\gamma}(y) + o(e^{-(p+1)y}) + O(e^{-pR}\|h\|_{H^{1}}).$$

Proof. We have

$$\mu_{\gamma}(u) = 2\|Q'\|_{L^{2}}^{2} - \|Q(|\cdot|-y) + g\|_{\dot{H}_{\gamma}^{1}}^{2}$$

= $2\|Q'\|_{L^{2}}^{2} - 2\int_{0}^{\infty} |Q'(x-y)|^{2} dx - 4\operatorname{Re}\int_{0}^{\infty} Q'(x-y)g'(x)dx - \int_{\mathbb{R}} |g'(x)|^{2} dx$
 $- |\gamma||Q(-y) + g(0)|^{2}$

Now,

$$2\|Q'\|_{L^2}^2 - 2\int_0^\infty |Q'(x-y)|^2 dx = 2\int_{-\infty}^0 |Q'(x-y)|^2 dx.$$

By equation (1.1) for Q and integration by parts, we get

$$\operatorname{Re} \int_{0}^{\infty} Q'(x-y)g'(x)dx = \operatorname{Re}[Q'(x-y)g(x)]_{x=0}^{x=\infty} - \operatorname{Re} \int_{0}^{\infty} Q''(x-y)g(x)dx$$
$$= -Q'(-y)\operatorname{Re} g(0) - \operatorname{Re} \int_{0}^{\infty} (Q(x-y) - Q(x-y)^{p})g(x)dx$$

Since $g = \rho \chi_R Q(\cdot - y) + h$ on $(0, \infty)$, we get

$$\operatorname{Re} \int_{0}^{\infty} (Q(x-y) - Q(x-y)^{p})g(x)dx$$

Journal of Differential Equations 412 (2024) 758-796

S. Gustafson and T. Inui

$$= \rho \left(\int_{0}^{\infty} \chi_{R}(x) Q(x-y)^{2} dx - \int_{0}^{\infty} \chi_{R}(x) Q(x-y)^{p+1} dx \right)$$
$$+ \operatorname{Re} \int_{0}^{\infty} Q(x-y) h(x) dx - \operatorname{Re} \int_{0}^{\infty} Q(x-y)^{p} h(x) dx$$

By the above equations and Lemma 4.8, we obtain

$$\mu_{\gamma}(u) = 2 \int_{-\infty}^{0} |Q'(x-y)|^2 dx$$

+ $2 \int_{-\infty}^{0} |Q(x-y)|^2 dx + 4Q'(-y) \operatorname{Re} g(0) - |\gamma| |Q(-y) + g(0)|^2$
- $4\rho \int_{0}^{\infty} \chi_R(x) Q(x-y)^{p+1} dx - ||g||_{H^1}^2 - 4 \operatorname{Re} \int_{0}^{\infty} Q(x-y)^p h(x) dx$
= $-2Q(y) - 2\operatorname{Err} - 4\rho \int_{0}^{\infty} \chi_R(x) Q(x-y)^{p+1} dx - ||g||_{H^1}^2$
- $4 \operatorname{Re} \int_{0}^{\infty} Q(x-y)^p h(x) dx$,

where we set

$$\operatorname{Err} := \frac{1}{2|\gamma|} \{ |\gamma|Q(-y) - 2Q'(-y) \}^2 + \{ |\gamma|Q(-y) - 2Q'(-y) \} \operatorname{Re} g(0) + \frac{|\gamma|}{2} |g(0)|^2 \}$$

Now, we have

$$\operatorname{Re} \int_{0}^{\infty} Q(x-y)^{p} h(x) dx = O(e^{-pR} \|h\|_{H^{1}}).$$

Indeed, by (3.4) and y > 2R, we

$$\left|\operatorname{Re}\int_{0}^{\infty} \mathcal{T}_{y}Q^{p}hdx\right| = \left|\operatorname{Re}\int_{0}^{\infty} \chi_{R}^{+} \mathcal{T}_{y}Q^{p}hdx + \operatorname{Re}\int_{0}^{\infty} \chi_{R}^{c} \mathcal{T}_{y}Q^{p}hdx\right|$$
$$= \left|\operatorname{Re}\int_{0}^{\infty} \chi_{R}^{c} \mathcal{T}_{y}Q^{p}hdx\right|$$

$$\leq \left(\int_{0}^{R} \mathcal{T}_{y} Q^{2p} dx\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \|h\|_{L^{2}}$$
$$\lesssim e^{-py+pR} \|h\|_{L^{2}}$$
$$\lesssim e^{-pR} \|h\|_{H^{1}}.$$

Therefore, we obtain

$$-4\rho \int_{0}^{\infty} \chi_{R}(x) Q(x-y)^{p+1} dx = \mu_{\gamma}(u) + \|g\|_{H^{1}}^{2} + 2Q(y) + 2\operatorname{Err} + O(e^{-pR}\|h\|_{H^{1}}).$$

By the Young inequality, (4.1), and (4.2), we have

$$0 \leq \operatorname{Err} \lesssim e_{\gamma}(y) + \|g\|_{H^1}^2.$$

We also have $|\int_0^\infty \chi_R(x)Q(x-y)^{p+1}dx| \ge C$. Thus, by Corollary 4.5, we get

$$|\rho| \lesssim |\mu_{\gamma}(u)| + ||g||_{H^1}^2 + e_{\gamma}(y) + o(e^{-(p+1)y}) + O(e^{-pR}||h||_{H^1}).$$

The desired estimate is obtained. \Box

We next give an estimate using the action. By the mass-energy condition, we have

$$0 = S_{\gamma}(u) - 2S(Q)$$

= $S(u) - S(Q(|\cdot| - y)) + S(Q(|\cdot| - y)) - 2S(Q) + \frac{|\gamma|}{2}|u(0)|^{2}.$

We set

$$S_{(0,\infty)}(f) := \frac{1}{2} \|f'\|_{L^2(0,\infty)}^2 + \frac{1}{2} \|f\|_{L^2(0,\infty)}^2 - \frac{1}{p+1} \|f\|_{L^{p+1}(0,\infty)}^{p+1}$$

Lemma 4.10. We have

$$S(u) - S(Q(|\cdot| - y)) = -2Q'(-y)\operatorname{Re} g(0) + B(g, g) + o(||g||_{L^2}^2),$$

where $B = B_y$ is defined in Section 2.6.

Proof. By the symmetry and $u = e^{i\theta + it}(Q(|\cdot| - y) + g)$, we have

$$S(u) - S(Q(|\cdot| - y)) = S(Q(|\cdot| - y) + g) - S(Q(|\cdot| - y))$$

= 2{S_(0,∞)(Q(\cdots - y) + g) - S_(0,∞)(Q(\cdots - y))}.

By Taylor expansion, we get

$$S_{(0,\infty)}(Q(\cdot - y) + g) - S_{(0,\infty)}(Q(\cdot - y))$$

= $\langle S'_{(0,\infty)}(Q(\cdot - y), g) + \frac{1}{2} \langle S''_{(0,\infty)}(Q(\cdot - y))g, g) + o(||g||_{L^2}^2).$

Now, by (1.1), we have

$$\langle S'_{(0,\infty)}(Q(\cdot - y)), g \rangle = \operatorname{Re} \int_{0}^{\infty} (-Q'' + Q - Q^{p})(x - y)\overline{g(x)}dx - \operatorname{Re}\{Q'(-y)\overline{g(0)}\}$$
$$= -Q'(-y)\operatorname{Re} g(0).$$

Moreover, for $\varphi = \varphi_1 + i\varphi_2 \in H^1_{\text{even}}(\mathbb{R}), \ \psi = \psi_1 + i\psi_2 \in H^1_{\text{even}}(\mathbb{R})$, we also have

$$\begin{aligned} \langle S_{(0,\infty)}^{\prime\prime}(Q(\cdot-y))\varphi,\psi\rangle &= \operatorname{Re}\int_{0}^{\infty}\varphi^{\prime}(x)\overline{\psi^{\prime}(x)} + \varphi(x)\overline{\psi(x)}dx\\ &-\int_{0}^{\infty}Q(x-y)^{p-1}(p\varphi_{1}(x)\psi_{1}(x) + \varphi_{2}(x)\psi_{2}(x))dx\\ &= B(\varphi,\psi). \end{aligned}$$

This gives the statement. \Box

Lemma 4.11. We have

$$S(Q(|\cdot|-y)) - 2S(Q) = -\int_{-\infty}^{0} |Q'(x-y)|^2 + |Q(x-y)|^2 dx + \frac{2}{p+1} \int_{-\infty}^{0} |Q(x-y)|^{p+1} dx.$$

Proof. By the symmetry, we have

$$S(Q(|\cdot|-y)) - 2S(Q) = 2\{S_{(0,\infty)}(Q(\cdot-y)) - S(Q)\}.$$

For a function f and $\alpha > 0$, we have

$$\int_{0}^{\infty} |f(x-y)|^{\alpha} dx = ||f||_{L^{\alpha}}^{\alpha} - \int_{-\infty}^{0} |f(x-y)|^{\alpha} dx.$$

Thus we get

$$S_{(0,\infty)}(Q(\cdot - y)) - S(Q)$$

= $-\frac{1}{2} \int_{-\infty}^{0} |Q'(x - y)|^2 + |Q(x - y)|^2 dx + \frac{1}{p+1} \int_{-\infty}^{0} |Q(x - y)|^{p+1} dx.$

This gives us the statement. \Box

Combining Lemmas 4.10 and 4.11, we get the following.

Corollary 4.12. We have

$$S_{\gamma}(u) - 2S(Q) \ge Q(y) + \frac{2}{p+1} \int_{-\infty}^{0} |Q(x-y)|^{p+1} dx + B(g,g) + o(||g||_{L^2}^2).$$

Proof. By Lemmas 4.10 and 4.11, we have

$$S_{\gamma}(u) - 2S(Q) = S(u) - S(Q(|\cdot|-y)) + S(Q(|\cdot|-y)) - 2S(Q) + \frac{|\gamma|}{2}|u(0)|^{2}$$

$$= -\int_{-\infty}^{0} |Q'(x-y)|^{2} + |Q(x-y)|^{2}dx - 2Q'(-y)\operatorname{Re}g(0) + \frac{|\gamma|}{2}|u(0)|^{2}$$

$$+ \frac{2}{p+1}\int_{-\infty}^{0} |Q(x-y)|^{p+1}dx + B(g,g) + o(||g||_{L^{2}}^{2})$$

$$= Q(y) + \operatorname{Err} + \frac{2}{p+1}\int_{-\infty}^{0} |Q(x-y)|^{p+1}dx + B(g,g) + o(||g||_{L^{2}}^{2}),$$

where Err is defined in the proof of Lemma 4.9. As shown in that proof, $\text{Err} \ge 0$ by the Young inequality. Thus, the desired estimate is obtained. \Box

Lemma 4.13. There exist c, C > 0 such that we have

$$B(g,g) \ge c \|h\|_{H^1}^2 - C|\rho|^2$$

for sufficiently large R > 0.

Proof. Since we have $g = \rho \chi_R Q(|\cdot| - y) + h$, we get

$$B(g,g) = |\rho|^2 B(\chi_R Q(|\cdot|-y), \chi_R Q(|\cdot|-y)) + 2\rho B(\chi_R Q(|\cdot|-y), h) + B(h, h).$$

We have

$$|\rho|^2 |B(\chi_R Q(|\cdot|-y), \chi_R Q(|\cdot|-y))| \le C |\rho|^2,$$

where C is independent of R. By the Young inequality, we also have

$$|2\rho B(\chi_R Q(|\cdot|-y),h)| \le C |\rho| ||h||_{H^1} \le \varepsilon ||h||_{H^1}^2 + C_{\varepsilon} |\rho|^2,$$

where $\varepsilon > 0$ is a sufficiently small number.

We will estimate B(h, h).

$$B(h,h) = B(\chi_R h + \chi_R^c h, \chi_R h + \chi_R^c h)$$

= $B(\chi_R h, \chi_R h) + 2B(\chi_R h, \chi_R^c h) + B(\chi_R^c h, \chi_R^c h)$

First, we consider $B(\chi_R h, \chi_R h)$. By a direct calculation, we have

$$B(\chi_R h, \chi_R h) = \operatorname{Re} \int_{\mathbb{R}} |(\chi_R^+ h)'(x)|^2 + \chi_R^+ (x)^2 |h(x)|^2 dx$$
$$- \int_{\mathbb{R}} Q(x-y)^{p-1} (p\chi_R^+ (x)^2 h_1(x)^2 + \chi_R^+ (x)^2 h_2(x)^2) dx$$
$$= \Phi(\mathcal{T}_{-y}(\chi_R^+ h)).$$

Since we have $\Phi(\mathcal{T}_{-y}(\chi_R^+h)) \ge c \|\chi_R h\|_{H^1}^2 - CR^{-1} \|h\|_{H^1}^2$ by the coercivity Lemma 2.12, we have

$$B(\chi_R h, \chi_R h) \ge c \|\chi_R h\|_{H^1}^2 - \frac{C}{R} \|h\|_{H^1}^2$$

Next we consider $B(\chi_R h, \chi_R^c h)$. Now we have

$$\int_{0}^{\infty} (\chi_R h)'(x) \overline{(\chi_R^c h)'(x)} dx = \int_{0}^{\infty} \chi_R(x) \chi_R^c(x) |h'(x)|^2 dx + O(R^{-1} ||h||_{H^1}^2),$$

and

$$\left| \int_{0}^{\infty} \mathcal{T}_{y} Q^{p-1} (p \chi_{R} \chi_{R}^{c} |h_{1}|^{2} + \chi_{R} \chi_{R}^{c} |h_{2}|^{2}) dx \right| \leq C \left| \int_{0}^{R} \mathcal{T}_{y} Q^{p-1} dx \right| \|h\|_{L^{\infty}}^{2}$$
$$\leq C e^{(p-1)R} e^{-(p-1)y} \|h\|_{H^{1}}^{2}$$
$$\leq C e^{-(p-1)R} \|h\|_{H^{1}}^{2}$$

Thus we get

$$B(\chi_R h, \chi_R^c h) = \operatorname{Re} \int_0^\infty (\chi_R h)'(x) \overline{(\chi_R^c h)'(x)} + \chi_R(x)h(x)\overline{\chi_R^c(x)h(x)}dx$$
$$- \int_0^\infty Q(x-y)^{p-1} (p\chi_R(x)\chi_R^c(x)|h_1(x)|^2 + \chi_R(x)\chi_R^c|h_2(x)|^2)dx$$

$$= \int_{0}^{\infty} \chi_{R}(x) \chi_{R}^{c}(x) (|h'(x)|^{2} + |h(x)|^{2}) dx + O(R^{-1} ||h||_{H^{1}}^{2}) + O(e^{-(p-1)R} ||h||_{H^{1}}^{2})$$

$$= \frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \chi_{R}(x) \chi_{R}^{c}(x) (|h'(x)|^{2} + |h(x)|^{2}) dx + O(R^{-1} ||h||_{H^{1}}^{2})$$

$$+ O(e^{-(p-1)R} ||h||_{H^{1}}^{2})$$

In a similar way, we have

$$B(\chi_R^c h, \chi_R^c h) = \frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \chi_R^c(x) \chi_R^c(x) (|h'(x)|^2 + |h(x)|^2) dx$$
$$+ O(R^{-1} ||h||_{H^1}^2) + O(e^{-(p-1)R} ||h||_{H^1}^2).$$

Therefore, we obtain

$$\begin{split} B(h,h) &\geq c \|\chi_R h\|_{H^1}^2 - \frac{C}{R} \|h\|_{H^1}^2 \\ &+ \int_{\mathbb{R}} \chi_R(x) \chi_R^c(x) (|h'(x)|^2 + |h(x)|^2) dx \\ &+ \frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \chi_R^c(x) \chi_R^c(x) (|h'(x)|^2 + |h(x)|^2) dx \\ &+ O(R^{-1} \|h\|_{H^1}^2) + O(e^{-(p-1)R} \|h\|_{H^1}^2). \end{split}$$

Here, it holds that

$$c \|\chi_R h\|_{H^1}^2 + \int_{\mathbb{R}} \{\chi_R \chi_R^c + \frac{1}{2} (\chi_R^c)^2 \} (|h'|^2 + |h|^2) dx \ge c \|h\|_{H^1}^2 - \frac{C}{R} \|h\|_{H^1}^2.$$

This implies

$$B(h,h) \ge c \|h\|_{H^{1}}^{2} - \frac{C}{R} \|h\|_{H^{1}}^{2} + O(R^{-1} \|h\|_{H^{1}}^{2}) + O(e^{-(p-1)R} \|h\|_{H^{1}}^{2})$$

$$\ge c \|h\|_{H^{1}}^{2} - \frac{C}{R} \|h\|_{H^{1}}^{2}.$$

$$(4.3)$$

By combining (3.2)–(4.3), we get

$$B(g,g) \ge c \|h\|_{H^1}^2 - \frac{C}{R} \|h\|_{H^1}^2 - C|\rho|^2 - \varepsilon \|h\|_{H^1}^2 - C_{\varepsilon}|\rho|^2.$$

Taking $\varepsilon > 0$ sufficiently small and R > 0 sufficiently large, we obtain

Journal of Differential Equations 412 (2024) 758-796

$$B(g,g) \ge c \|h\|_{H^1}^2 - C|\rho|^2.$$

This completes the proof. \Box

Lemma 4.14. We have

$$e_{\gamma}(y) + \|h\|_{H^1}^2 \lesssim |\rho|^2.$$

Proof. By Corollaries 4.5 and 4.12 and Lemmas 4.6 and 4.13, we get the desired estimate. \Box

Corollary 4.15. It holds that

$$|\rho| \lesssim |\mu_{\gamma}(u)|.$$

In particular, we have

$$e_{\gamma}(y) + \|h\|_{H^1}^2 \lesssim |\mu_{\gamma}(u)|^2.$$

Proof. By Lemmas 4.7, 4.9, and 4.14, we have

$$|\rho| \lesssim |\mu_{\gamma}(u)| + \|g\|_{H^{1}}^{2} + e_{\gamma}(y) + e^{-R} \|h\|_{H^{1}} \lesssim |\mu_{\gamma}(u)| + |\rho|^{2} + e^{-R} |\rho|.$$

This shows that

$$|\rho| \lesssim |\mu_{\gamma}(u)|$$

by taking *R* large and $|\rho|$ small. The second estimate follows from this and Lemma 4.14. \Box

4.3. Estimates for time derivatives of modulation parameters

We have estimates for the time derivatives of the modulation parameters as follows.

Lemma 4.16. We have

$$|\dot{y}| + |\dot{\rho}| + |\dot{\theta}| \lesssim |\mu_{\gamma}(u)|.$$

Proof. By a direct calculation, we have

$$\begin{split} i\dot{h} + h'' + \gamma\delta h \\ &= \dot{\theta}Q(|\cdot|-y) + \dot{\theta}\rho\chi_RQ(|\cdot|-y) + (\dot{\theta}+1)h + \gamma_y\delta Q(|\cdot|-y) \\ &+ |Q(|\cdot|-y)|^{p-1}Q(|\cdot|-y) - |Q(|\cdot|-y) + g|^{p-1}(Q(|\cdot|-y) + g) \\ &- i\dot{\rho}\chi_RQ(|\cdot|-y) + i\dot{y}(1+\rho\chi_R)Q'(|\cdot|-y) \\ &- \rho\chi_R''Q(|\cdot|-y) - 2\rho\frac{x}{|x|}\chi_R'Q'(|\cdot|-y) + \rho\chi_RQ(|\cdot|-y)^p - \gamma\delta Q(|\cdot|-y), \end{split}$$

where $\gamma_y := -2Q'(-y)/Q(-y)$ and we used the fact that $Q(|\cdot|-y)$ satisfies the equation

$$-\{Q(|\cdot|-y)\}''+Q(|\cdot|-y)=\gamma_y\delta Q(|\cdot|-y)+|Q(|\cdot|-y)|^{p-1}Q(|\cdot|-y).$$

We have delta interactions in the equation of h. However, we take couplings with the equation and functions including χ_R^+ . Thus they do not appear in the following calculations. By testing the equation of h with $\chi_R^+ i Q(\cdot - y)$, the orthogonality condition implies that

$$|\dot{\theta}| \lesssim |\rho| + \|h\|_{H^1} + \|g\|_{H^1} + \|h\|_{H^1} |\dot{y}| \lesssim |\mu_{\gamma}(u)| + \|h\|_{H^1} |\dot{y}|, \tag{4.4}$$

where we also use Lemma 4.7 and Corollary 4.15. Testing the equation with $i\chi_R^+Q(\cdot - y)^p$ and using the orthogonality, we get

$$\begin{aligned} |\dot{\rho}| &\lesssim (|\dot{\theta}|+1) \|h\|_{H^{1}} + \|g\|_{H^{1}} + (1+|\rho|)e^{-R}|\dot{y}| + |\dot{y}|\|h\|_{H^{1}} \\ &\lesssim |\mu_{\gamma}(u)| + (e^{-R} + \|h\|_{H^{1}})|\dot{y}|. \end{aligned}$$
(4.5)

Testing the equation with $i\chi_R^+ Q'(\cdot - y)$ and using the orthogonality, we obtain

$$|\dot{y}| \lesssim |\rho| + \|h\|_{H^1} + \|g\|_{H^1} + e^{-R}|\dot{\rho}| + \|h\|_{H^1}|\dot{y}| \lesssim |\mu_{\gamma}(u)| + e^{-R}|\dot{\rho}| + \|h\|_{H^1}|\dot{y}|.$$
(4.6)

These estimates (4.4)–(4.6) imply that

$$|\dot{\theta}| + |\dot{y}| + |\dot{\rho}| \lesssim |\mu_{\gamma}(u)| + (e^{-R} + ||h||_{H^1})|\dot{y}| + e^{-R}|\dot{\rho}|$$

By taking *R* large and $||h||_{H^1}$ small, we get

$$|\dot{\theta}| + |\dot{y}| + |\dot{\rho}| \lesssim |\mu_{\gamma}(u)|.$$

The proof is complete. \Box

5. Proof of scattering

The proof is very similar to [20], so we only give an outline here.

Suppose that statement (1) of Theorem 2.5 does not hold. Then there exists a global solution $u \in C(\mathbb{R} : H^1_{even}(\mathbb{R}))$ with

$$E_{\gamma}(u) = 2E(Q), \ M(u) = 2M(Q), \ K_{\gamma}(u(t)) > 0,$$

and

$$\|u\|_{S(\mathbb{R})} = \infty.$$

We may assume that $||u||_{L^a_t L^r_x((0,\infty) \times \mathbb{R})} = \infty$. We call this solution a (forward) critical element.

Lemma 5.1 (*Compactness of a critical element*). Let $u \in C(\mathbb{R} : H^1_{even}(\mathbb{R}))$ be a solution with

$$E_{\gamma}(u) = 2E(Q), \ M(u) = 2M(Q), \ K_{\gamma}(u(t)) > 0,$$

and

$$\|u\|_{S(0,\infty)}=\infty.$$

Then there exists a function $x : [0, \infty) \to [0, \infty)$ such that for any $\varepsilon > 0$ there exists $R = R(\varepsilon) > 0$ such that

$$\int_{\{|x-x(t)|>R\} \cap \{|x+x(t)|>R\}} |u'(t,x)|^2 + |u(t,x)|^2 dx < \varepsilon$$

for any $t \in [0, \infty)$.

Proof. The proof is based on linear profile decomposition and long time perturbation. See [4,28] for these. The statement can be shown in a similar way to [20, Proposition 35]. We omit the proof. \Box

The compactness also holds for

$$X(t) := \begin{cases} x(t) & (t \in [0, \infty) \setminus I_{\mu_0}), \\ y(t) & (t \in I_{\mu_0}). \end{cases}$$
(5.1)

See [20, Lemma 38]. That is, for any $\varepsilon > 0$ there exists $R = R(\varepsilon) > 0$ such that

$$\int_{\{|x-X(t)|>R\} \cap \{|x+X(t)|>R\}} |u'(t,x)|^2 + |u(t,x)|^2 dx < \varepsilon$$

for all $t \in [0, \infty)$.

Lemma 5.2. Let $\{t_n\}$ be an arbitrary time sequence in $[0, \infty)$. We have the following.

- (1) If $|X(t_n)|$ is unbounded, then by taking a subsequence of $\{t_n\}$, still denoted by $\{t_n\}$, there is $\psi \in H^1(\mathbb{R})$ such that $u(t_n) (\psi(\cdot X(t_n)) + \psi(- \cdot X(t_n))) \to 0$ in $H^1(\mathbb{R})$.
- (2) If $|X(t_n)|$ is bounded, then by taking a subsequence of $\{t_n\}$, still denoted by $\{t_n\}$, there is $\psi \in H^1(\mathbb{R})$ such that $u(t_n) \to \psi$ in $H^1(\mathbb{R})$.

Proof. See Lemma 39 in [20]. \Box

5.1. Elimination of the critical element

5.1.1. X(t) is bounded

Lemma 5.3. Let $u \in C(\mathbb{R} : H^1_{even}(\mathbb{R}))$ be a solution with

$$E_{\gamma}(u) = 2E(Q), \ M(u) = 2M(Q), \ K_{\gamma}(u(t)) > 0.$$

Assume that there exists a function $x : [0, \infty) \to [0, \infty)$ such that for any $\varepsilon > 0$ there exists $R = R(\varepsilon) > 0$ such that

$$\int_{\{|x-X(t)|>R\} \cap \{|x+X(t)|>R\}} |u'(t,x)|^2 + |u(t,x)|^2 dx < \varepsilon$$

for any $t \in [0, \infty)$, where X is defined in (5.1). Then X is bounded.

To show this, we prepare the following lemmas.

Lemma 5.4. *There exists* $C_{\varepsilon} > 0$ *such that*

$$\int_{t_1}^{t_2} \mu_{\gamma}(t) dt \le C_{\varepsilon} (1 + \sup_{t \in [t_1, t_2]} |X(t)|) (\mu_{\gamma}(t_1) + \mu_{\gamma}(t_2))$$

for any $t_2 > t_1 > 0$ *.*

Proof. We use Lemma 2.10 in this proof. See [20, Lemma 41] \Box

Lemma 5.5. Let $\{t_n\}$ be a sequence such that $t_n \to \infty$ as $n \to \infty$. Then $X(t_n) \to \infty$ if and only if $\mu_{\gamma}(t_n) \to 0$.

Proof. See [20, Lemma 42]. Here, we use Corollary 4.15. \Box

Lemma 5.6. There exists C > 0 such that

$$|X(t) - X(s)| \le C$$

for all $t, s \ge 0$ satisfying $|t - s| \le 1$.

Proof. See [20, Lemma 43]. □

Lemma 5.7. *There exists a constant* C > 0 *such that*

$$|X(t_1) - X(t_2)| \le C \int_{t_1}^{t_2} \mu_{\gamma}(t) dt$$

for all $t_1, t_2 \ge 0$ satisfying $t_1 + 1 \le t_2$.

Proof. We use the estimate of \dot{y} in Lemma 4.16 to show this statement. See [20, Lemma 44].

Combining these lemmas, we get Lemma 5.3. See the proof of Proposition 40 in [20].

5.1.2. Contradiction if X(t) is bounded

Since *X* is bounded, it holds that for any $\varepsilon > 0$ there exists $R = R(\varepsilon) > 0$ such that

$$\int_{|x|>R} |u'(t,x)|^2 + |u(t,x)|^2 dx < \varepsilon$$

for all $t \in [0, \infty)$.

Lemma 5.8. We have

$$\lim_{T\to\infty}\frac{1}{T}\int_{0}^{T}\mu_{\gamma}(t)dt=0.$$

Proof. See [20, Lemma 45]. □

Corollary 5.9. There exists a time sequence $\{t_n\}$ such that $\lim_{n\to\infty} \mu_{\gamma}(t_n) = 0$.

Proof. See [20, Corollary 46]. \Box

Let $\{t_n\}$ be a time sequence such that $\lim_{n\to\infty} \mu_{\gamma}(t_n) = 0$. Then $X(t_n)$ must diverge by Lemma 5.5. This is a contradiction to the boundedness of X. The conclusion is Theorem 2.5.

6. Proof of blow-up

The proof of Statement (2) of Theorem 2.5 is similar to [20], and so we omit details.

Lemma 6.1. Let $\varphi \in C^1_{\text{even}}(\mathbb{R})$ be a real-valued function with $\varphi(0) = 0$ and $f \in H^1_{\text{even}}(\mathbb{R})$. We assume that they satisfy $\int_{\mathbb{R}} |\varphi'|^2 |f|^2 dx < \infty$, M(f) = 2M(Q), and $E_{\gamma}(f) = 2E(Q)$. Then it holds that

$$\left| \operatorname{Im}_{\mathbb{R}} \int \varphi'(x) \partial_x f(x) \overline{f(x)} dx \right| \lesssim \mu_{\gamma}(f)^2 \int_{\mathbb{R}} |\varphi'(x)|^2 |f(x)|^2 dx.$$

Proof. This can be shown in a similar way to [20, Lemma 47] by using the Gagliardo–Nirenberg inequality, Lemma 2.4. See also [18, Lemma 4.13] We omit the proof. \Box

Corollary 6.2. Let $u_0 \in H^1_{even}(\mathbb{R})$ satisfy $K_{\gamma}(u_0) < 0$, $xu_0 \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$, $M(u_0) = 2M(Q)$, and $E_{\gamma}(u_0) = 2E(Q)$. Then we have

$$\left| \operatorname{Im}_{\mathbb{R}} \int_{\mathbb{R}} x u'(t, x) \overline{u(t, x)} dx \right| \lesssim |K_{\gamma}(u(t))|^2 \int_{\mathbb{R}} |x|^2 |u(t, x)|^2 dx.$$

1

Proof. This follows from Lemma 6.1 with $\varphi(x) = x^2$ and $\mu_{\gamma}(u) \leq |K_{\gamma}(u(t))|$, which is shown in Proposition 2.9. \Box

Lemma 6.3. Let u satisfy the conditions in Theorem 2.5 (2). Assume that u is global in positive time. Then it holds that

$$\operatorname{Im}_{\mathbb{R}} \int x u'(t, x) \overline{u(t, x)} dx > 0$$

for any t. Furthermore, there exists c > 0 such that

$$\int_{t}^{\infty} |\mu_{\gamma}(s)| ds \lesssim e^{-ct}$$

for all t > 0.

Proof. See [20, Proposition 49]. \Box

Corollary 6.4. Under the same assumption in Theorem 2.5 (2), u blows up in negative time.

Proof. See [20, Corollary 50]. \Box

As a consequence, we get Theorem 2.5 (see the proof of Proposition 14 (2) in [20]). Here we remark that we use the estimates of \dot{y} and $\dot{\rho}$ in Lemma 4.16, which imply y converges to a constant by combining with Lemma 6.3, and thus the convergence contradicts the estimate of $e_{\gamma}(y)$ in Corollary 4.15.

Data availability

No data was used for the research described in the article.

Acknowledgment

The first author is partially supported by NSERC Discovery Grant No. RGPIN-2018-03847. The second author is partially supported by JSPS KAKENHI Grant-in-Aid for Early-Career Scientists No. JP18K13444. He also expresses appreciation toward JSPS Overseas Research Fellowship and the University of British Columbia for stay by the fellowship.

Appendix A. Sign condition

We show the following in this appendix.

Proposition A.1. If $f \in H^1_{\text{even}}(\mathbb{R})$ satisfies $E_{\gamma}(f)M(f)^{\frac{1-s_c}{s_c}} \leq 2^{\frac{1}{s_c}}E(Q)M(Q)^{\frac{1-s_c}{s_c}}$ and $M(f) \geq 2M(Q_{\gamma^2/4,0})$, then the following are equivalent.

(1) $K_{\gamma}(f) > 0.$ (2) $\sqrt{2} \|Q\|_{L^2}^{1-s_c} \|Q\|_{\dot{H}^1}^{s_c} > \|f\|_{L^2}^{1-s_c} \|f\|_{\dot{H}^{\gamma}_{\nu}}^{s_c}.$

Lemma A.2. If $f \in H^1_{\text{even}}(\mathbb{R})$ satisfies $E_{\gamma}(f)M(f)^{\frac{1-s_c}{s_c}} \leq 2^{\frac{1}{s_c}}E(Q)M(Q)^{\frac{1-s_c}{s_c}}$ and $M(f) \geq 2M(Q_{\gamma^2/4,0})$, then there exists $\omega \in (0, \gamma^2/4]$ such that $M(f) = 2M(Q_{\omega,0})$ and $E_{\gamma}(f) \leq 2E(Q_{\omega,0})$.

Proof. By the monotonicity of $2M(Q_{\omega,0})$ for ω , there exists a unique $\omega \in (0, \gamma^2/4]$ such that $M(f) = 2M(Q_{\omega,0})$. Then the mass-energy condition implies $E_{\gamma}(f) \le 2E(Q_{\omega,0})$. \Box

Proof of Proposition A.1. By Lemma A.2, we have $\omega \in (0, \gamma^2/4]$ such that $M(f) = 2M(Q_{\omega,0})$ and $E_{\gamma}(f) \leq 2E(Q_{\omega,0})$. First we show $\sqrt{2} \|Q\|_{L^2}^{1-s_c} \|Q\|_{\dot{H}^1}^{s_c} > \|f\|_{L^2}^{1-s_c} \|f\|_{\dot{H}^1_{\gamma}}^{s_c}$ if $K_{\gamma}(f) > 0$. Then, by Proposition 2.15 in [28] and Lemma 2.2, we see that $I_{\omega,\gamma}(f) > 0$. By the similar calculation to Lemma 2.6, we get

$$0 < I_{\omega,\gamma}(f) \le \mu_{\omega,\gamma}(f) := 2 \|Q'_{\omega,0}\|_{L^2}^2 - \|f\|_{\dot{H}_{1}^1}^2$$

since we have $M(f) = 2M(Q_{\omega,0}), E_{\gamma}(f) \le 2E(Q_{\omega,0})$, and $I_{\omega,0}(Q_{\omega,0}) = 0$. This and $M(f) = 2M(Q_{\omega,0})$ gives us that

$$\|f\|_{L^{2}}^{1-s_{c}}\|f\|_{\dot{H}_{\gamma}^{1}}^{s_{c}} < \sqrt{2}\|Q_{\omega,0}\|_{L^{2}}^{1-s_{c}}\|Q_{\omega,0}\|_{\dot{H}^{1}}^{s_{c}} = \sqrt{2}\|Q\|_{L^{2}}^{1-s_{c}}\|Q\|_{\dot{H}^{1}}^{s_{c}}$$

by the scaling structure of $Q_{\omega,0}$. Next, we prove that $\sqrt{2} \|Q\|_{L^2}^{1-s_c} \|Q\|_{\dot{H}^1}^{s_c} > \|f\|_{L^2}^{1-s_c} \|f\|_{\dot{H}^1_{\gamma}}^{s_c}$ if $K_{\gamma}(f) < 0$. Then we see that $I_{\omega,\gamma}(f) < 0$ by Proposition 2.15 in [28] and Lemma 2.2. By the Gagliardo–Nirenberg type inequality, Lemma 2.4, we get

$$0 > I_{\omega,\gamma}(f) \ge \|f\|_{\dot{H}^{1}_{\omega,\gamma}}^{2} - (2^{-\frac{p-1}{p+1}}C_{\omega,0})^{\frac{p+1}{2}} \|f\|_{\dot{H}^{1}_{\omega,\gamma}}^{p+1}.$$

Thus we have

$$\|f\|_{\dot{H}^{1}_{\omega,\gamma}}^{p-1} > 2^{\frac{p-1}{2}} C_{\omega,0}^{-\frac{p+1}{2}} = 2^{\frac{p-1}{2}} \left\{ \frac{2(p+1)}{p-1} S_{\omega,0}(Q_{\omega,0}) \right\}^{\frac{p-1}{2}}$$

and thus

$$\|f\|_{\dot{H}^{1}_{\omega,\gamma}}^{2} > 2\left\{\frac{2(p+1)}{p-1}S_{\omega,0}(Q_{\omega,0})\right\} = 2\omega^{1-s_{c}}\frac{2(p+1)}{p-1}S_{1,0}(Q)$$

Substituting $\omega = (M(Q)/M(f))^{1/s_c}$, which comes from $M(f) = M(Q_{\omega,0}) = \omega^{-s_c} M(Q)$ into this, we get



Fig. 1. The figure of the global dynamics result on (M, E_{γ}) -coordinate.

$$\|f\|_{\dot{H}^{1}_{y}}^{2} + \left(\frac{M(Q)}{M(f)}\right)^{\frac{1}{s_{c}}} M(f) > 2\left(\frac{M(Q)}{M(f)}\right)^{\frac{1-s_{c}}{s_{c}}} \frac{2(p+1)}{p-1} S_{1,0}(Q).$$

By a direct calculation and the Pohozaev identities for Q, we obtain

$$\|f\|_{\dot{H}^1_{\gamma}}^2 M(f)^{\frac{1-s_c}{s_c}} > 2M(Q)^{\frac{1-s_c}{s_c}} \|Q'\|_{L^2}^2.$$

This implies $\sqrt{2} \|Q\|_{L^2}^{1-s_c} \|Q\|_{\dot{H}^1}^{s_c} < \|f\|_{L^2}^{1-s_c} \|f\|_{\dot{H}^1}^{s_c}$. At last, we note that $\sqrt{2} \|Q\|_{L^2}^{1-s_c} \|Q\|_{\dot{H}^1}^{s_c} = \|f\|_{L^2}^{1-s_c} \|f\|_{\dot{H}^1}^{s_c}$ does not occur under the assumption. This follows from the above argument and the fact that $I_{\omega,\gamma}(f) = 0$ does not occur. \Box

Remark A.1. By the similar argument to the above, we can show that $K_{\gamma}(f) > 0$ is equivalent to $\|Q_{\omega,\gamma}\|_{L^2}^{1-s_c} \|Q_{\omega,\gamma}\|_{\dot{H}^1_{\gamma}}^{s_c} > \|f\|_{L^2}^{1-s_c} \|f\|_{\dot{H}^1_{\gamma}}^{s_c}$ under the assumptions $S_{\omega,\gamma}(f) \le r_{\omega,\gamma}$ and $M(f) = M(Q_{\omega,\gamma})$ for some $\omega > \gamma^2/4$. However, it is difficult to remove ω from the condition unlike the low frequency case. In this sense, $K_{\gamma}(f)$ is more useful.

Appendix B. Concluding remark

We summarize known global dynamics results for (δ NLS) in Fig. 1. The dashed curve is $E_{\gamma}M^{\frac{1-s_c}{s_c}} = 2^{1+\frac{1-s_c}{s_c}}E(Q)M(Q)^{\frac{1-s_c}{s_c}}$ and the dotted curve is $E_{\gamma}M^{\frac{1-s_c}{s_c}} = E(Q)M(Q)^{\frac{1-s_c}{s_c}}$. The explicit formula of the black curve is not known. However, it is connected at $M = 2M(Q_{\gamma^2/4,0})$ with the dashed line, below the dashed line and above the dotted line on the mass interval

 $(0, 2M(Q_{\gamma^2/4,0}))$, and approaches to the dotted line as $M \to 0$.¹ We remark that $E_{\gamma} = -\omega M + S_{\omega,0}(Q_{\omega,0})$ is the tangent line of the dotted curve, whose tangent point is $(M(Q_{\omega,0}), E(Q_{\omega,0}))$, and $E_{\gamma} = -\omega M + S_{\omega,\gamma}(Q_{\omega,\gamma})$ is the tangent line of the connected curve with the black curve and the dashed curve at $M = 2M(Q_{\gamma^2/4,0})$, whose tangent point is $(M(Q_{\omega,\gamma}), E(Q_{\omega,\gamma}))$ if $\omega > \gamma^2/4$ and $(2M(Q_{\omega,0}), 2E(Q_{\omega,0}))$ if $0 < \omega \le \gamma^2/4$. Moreover, $E_{\gamma} = -\omega M + 2S_{\omega,0}(Q_{\omega,0})$ is the tangent line of the dashed curve, whose tangent point is $(2M(Q_{\omega,0}), 2E(Q_{\omega,0}))$. These curves are envelopes of their tangent lines. See [18, Section A] for the formula of the curves.

In the general case, the scattering and blow-up dichotomy result (S or B) holds below and on the dotted curve (see [28,3,29]). Above the dotted curve, we have one-solitons, whose center moves away from the origin and which are non-scattering global solutions (see [22]). This means that the dotted curve is the threshold for the dichotomy result in the general setting.

Under the odd assumption, we do not have influence from the Dirac delta potential at the origin since the value of odd functions at the origin is zero. In this case, the dashed curve is the threshold of the dichotomy result. That is, the scattering and blow-up dichotomy result holds below and on the dashed curve (see [30] and [20]). This is optimal in the sense that we have two-solitons above the dashed curve.

Under the even assumption, the connected curve with the black curve and the dashed curve at $M = 2M(Q_{\gamma^2/4,0})$ are a threshold of the dichotomy result. That is, the dichotomy result is valid below the curve (see [28]). On the black curve, there is no dichotomy result since the ground state $Q_{\omega,\gamma}$ exists on the black curve. We also have two solutions (up to symmetries) converging exponentially to the ground state (see [19] for detail). On the other hand, we have the dichotomy result on the dashed curve on the mass interval $[2M(Q_{\gamma^2/4,0}), \infty)$. We note that the endpoint $M = 2M(Q_{\gamma^2/4,0})$ is included. This is shown by the paper. Above the dashed curve, we have two-solitons, which are non-scattering global solutions (see [22]). We also have a logarithmic two-solitons on the dashed curve for smaller mass M (see [19]).

References

- T. Akahori, H. Nawa, Blowup and scattering problems for the nonlinear Schrödinger equations, Kyoto J. Math. 53 (3) (2013) 629–672.
- [2] S. Albeverio, F. Gesztesy, R. Høegh-Krohn, H. Holden, Solvable Models in Quantum Mechanics, second ed., AMS Chelsea Publishing, Providence, RI, 2005.
- [3] A.H. Ardila, T. Inui, Threshold scattering for the focusing NLS with a repulsive Dirac delta potential, J. Differ. Equ. 313 (2022) 54–84.
- [4] V. Banica, N. Visciglia, Scattering for NLS with a delta potential, J. Differ. Equ. 260 (5) (2016) 4410–4439.
- [5] L. Campos, L.G. Farah, S. Roudenko, Threshold solutions for the nonlinear Schrödinger equation, Rev. Mat. Iberoam. 38 (5) (2022) 1637–1708.

¹ We give a precise meaning to this approach. Let $\varepsilon > 0$ be an arbitrary number and denote by l_{ε} the line $E_{\gamma} = -\omega M + S_{\omega,0}(Q_{\omega,0}) + \omega^{1-s_c}\varepsilon$. Now, we note that $S_{\omega,0}(Q_{\omega,0}) = \omega^{1-s_c}S_1$, where $S_1 = E(Q) + M(Q)$, and we find that l_0 is $E_{\gamma} = -\omega M + S_{\omega,0}(Q_{\omega,0})$ and l_{S_1} is $E_{\gamma} = -\omega M + 2S_{\omega,0}(Q_{\omega,0})$. Let l denote the line $E_{\gamma} = -\omega M + S_{\omega,\gamma}(Q_{\omega,\gamma})$. Then we have $l_0 \le l \le l_{\varepsilon}$ for sufficiently large ω (ω depends on ε). The envelope of the lines $\{l_{\varepsilon}\}_{\omega\gg 1}$ is given by $E_{\gamma} = \left(\frac{S_1+\varepsilon}{S_1}\right)^{\frac{1}{s_c}} E(Q)M(Q)^{\frac{1-s_c}{s_c}}M^{-\frac{1-s_c}{s_c}}$. The envelope of the lines $\{l\}_{\omega\gg 1}$ is between the curves $E_{\gamma} = E(Q)M(Q)^{\frac{1-s_c}{s_c}}M^{-\frac{1-s_c}{s_c}}$ and $E_{\gamma} = \left(\frac{S_1+\varepsilon}{S_1}\right)^{\frac{1}{s_c}} E(Q)M(Q)^{\frac{1-s_c}{s_c}}M^{-\frac{1-s_c}{s_c}}$. Since ε is arbitrary, the curve generated by $\{l\}_{\omega\gg 1}$ approaches $E_{\gamma} = E(Q)M(Q)^{\frac{1-s_c}{s_c}}M^{-\frac{1-s_c}{s_c}}$ by taking mass small, i.e., ω large.

- [6] T. Cazenave, Semilinear Schrödinger Equations, Courant Lecture Notes in Mathematics, vol. 10, New York University, Courant Institute of Mathematical Sciences, New York, American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 2003.
- [7] V.D. Dinh, Non-radial scattering theory for nonlinear Schrödinger equations with potential, Nonlinear Differ. Equ. Appl. 28 (6) (2021) 61, 42.
- [8] T. Duyckaerts, J. Holmer, S. Roudenko, Scattering for the non-radial 3D cubic nonlinear Schrödinger equation, Math. Res. Lett. 15 (6) (2008) 1233–1250.
- [9] T. Duyckaerts, O. Landoulsi, S. Roudenko, Threshold solutions in the focusing 3D cubic NLS equation outside a strictly convex obstacle, J. Funct. Anal. 282 (5) (2022) 109326, 55.
- [10] T. Duyckaerts, S. Roudenko, Threshold solutions for the focusing 3D cubic Schrödinger equation, Rev. Mat. Iberoam. 26 (1) (2010) 1–56.
- [11] D. Fang, J. Xie, T. Cazenave, Scattering for the focusing energy-subcritical nonlinear Schrödinger equation, Sci. China Math. 54 (10) (2011) 2037–2062.
- [12] N. Fukaya, M. Ohta, Strong instability of standing waves for nonlinear Schrödinger equations with attractive inverse power potential, Osaka J. Math. 56 (4) (2019) 713–726.
- [13] R. Fukuizumi, L. Jeanjean, Stability of standing waves for a nonlinear Schrödinger equation with a repulsive Dirac delta potential, Discrete Contin. Dyn. Syst. 21 (1) (2008) 121–136.
- [14] R. Fukuizumi, M. Ohta, T. Ozawa, Nonlinear Schrödinger equation with a point defect, Ann. Inst. Henri Poincaré, Anal. Non Linéaire 25 (5) (2008) 837–845.
- [15] R.H. Goodman, P.J. Holmes, M.I. Weinstein, Strong NLS soliton-defect interactions, Phys. D 192 (3–4) (2004) 215–248.
- [16] C.D. Guevara, Global behavior of finite energy solutions to the *d*-dimensional focusing nonlinear Schrödinger equation, Appl. Math. Res. Express (2) (2014) 177–243.
- [17] Q. Guo, Divergent solutions to the L²-supercritical NLS equations, Acta Math. Appl. Sin. Engl. Ser. 32 (1) (2016) 137–162.
- [18] S. Gustafson, T. Inui, Threshold even solutions to the nonlinear Schrödinger equation with delta potential at high frequencies, Discrete Contin. Dyn. Syst. 44 (10) (2024) 3135–3176.
- [19] S. Gustafson, T. Inui, Two-solitons with logarithmic separation for 1D NLS with repulsive delta potential, preprint, arXiv:2310.08865.
- [20] S. Gustafson, T. Inui, Threshold odd solutions to the nonlinear Schrödinger equation in one dimension, Part. Differ. Equ. Appl. 3 (4) (2022) 46, 45.
- [21] S. Gustafson, T. Inui, Blow-up or grow-up for the threshold solutions to the nonlinear Schrödinger equation, Dyn. Partial Differ. Equ. 20 (3) (2023) 213–225.
- [22] S. Gustafson, T. Inui, I. Shimizu, Multi-soliton for the nonlinear Schrödinger equation with repulsive Dirac delta potential, preprint, arXiv:2310.08862.
- [23] M. Hamano, M. Ikeda, Global dynamics below the ground state for the focusing Schrödinger equation with a potential, J. Evol. Equ. 20 (3) (2020) 1131–1172.
- [24] M. Hamano, M. Ikeda, T. Inui, I. Shimizu, Global dynamics below a threshold for the nonlinear Schrödinger equations with the Kirchhoff boundary and the repulsive Dirac delta boundary on a star graph, Partial Differ. Equ. Appl. 5 (1) (2024) 4, 36.
- [25] J. Holmer, S. Roudenko, A sharp condition for scattering of the radial 3D cubic nonlinear Schrödinger equation, Commun. Math. Phys. 282 (2) (2008) 435–467.
- [26] J. Holmer, S. Roudenko, Divergence of infinite-variance nonradial solutions to the 3D NLS equation, Commun. Partial Differ. Equ. 35 (5) (2010) 878–905.
- [27] Y. Hong, Scattering for a nonlinear Schrödinger equation with a potential, Commun. Pure Appl. Anal. 15 (5) (2016) 1571–1601.
- [28] M. Ikeda, T. Inui, Global dynamics below the standing waves for the focusing semilinear Schrödinger equation with a repulsive Dirac delta potential, Anal. PDE 10 (2) (2017) 481–512.
- [29] T. Inui, Remark on blow-up of the threshold solutions to the nonlinear Schrödinger equation with the repulsive Dirac delta potential, RIMS Kôkyûroku Bessatsu (2024), in press.
- [30] T. Inui, Global dynamics of solutions with group invariance for the nonlinear Schrödinger equation, Commun. Pure Appl. Anal. 16 (2) (2017) 557–590.
- [31] M. Kaminaga, M. Ohta, Stability of standing waves for nonlinear Schrödinger equation with attractive delta potential and repulsive nonlinearity, Saitama Math. J. 26 (2009) 39–48, 2010.
- [32] T. Kato, Perturbation Theory for Linear Operators, Classics in Mathematics, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1995.
- [33] C.E. Kenig, F. Merle, Global well-posedness, scattering and blow-up for the energy-critical, focusing, non-linear Schrödinger equation in the radial case, Invent. Math. 166 (3) (2006) 645–675.

- [34] R. Killip, J. Murphy, M. Visan, J. Zheng, The focusing cubic NLS with inverse-square potential in three space dimensions, Differ. Integral Equ. 30 (3–4) (2017) 161–206.
- [35] S. Le Coz, R. Fukuizumi, G. Fibich, B. Ksherim, Y. Sivan, Instability of bound states of a nonlinear Schrödinger equation with a Dirac potential, Phys. D 237 (8) (2008) 1103–1128.
- [36] J. Lu, C. Miao, J. Murphy, Scattering in H¹ for the intercritical NLS with an inverse-square potential, J. Differ. Equ. 264 (5) (2018) 3174–3211.
- [37] S. Masaki, J. Murphy, J.-i. Segata, Asymptotic stability of solitary waves for the 1d NLS with an attractive delta potential, Discrete Contin. Dyn. Syst. 43 (6) (2023) 2137–2185.
- [38] C. Miao, J. Murphy, J. Zheng, Threshold scattering for the focusing NLS with a repulsive potential, Indiana Univ. Math. J. 72 (2) (2023) 409–453.
- [39] H. Mizutani, Wave operators on Sobolev spaces, Proc. Am. Math. Soc. 148 (4) (2020) 1645–1652.
- [40] K. Nakanishi, W. Schlag, Global dynamics above the ground state energy for the cubic NLS equation in 3D, Calc. Var. Partial Differ. Equ. 44 (1–2) (2012) 1–45.
- [41] M. Ohta, Instability of bound states for abstract nonlinear Schrödinger equations, J. Funct. Anal. 261 (1) (2011) 90–110.
- [42] M. Ohta, Instability of standing waves for nonlinear Schrödinger equation with delta potential, São Paulo J. Math. Sci. 13 (2) (2019) 465–474.
- [43] M. Ohta, T. Yamaguchi, Strong instability of standing waves for nonlinear Schrödinger equations with a delta potential, in: Harmonic Analysis and Nonlinear Partial Differential Equations, in: RIMS Kôkyûroku Bessatsu, B56, Res. Inst. Math. Sci., RIMS, Kyoto, 2016, pp. 79–92.
- [44] K. Schmüdgen, Unbounded Self-Adjoint Operators on Hilbert Space, Graduate Texts in Mathematics, vol. 265, Springer, Dordrecht, 2012.
- [45] J. Zhang, J. Zheng, Scattering theory for nonlinear Schrödinger equations with inverse-square potential, J. Funct. Anal. 267 (8) (2014) 2907–2932.